

## THE KATO SQUARE ROOT PROBLEM ON AN ARBITRARY DOMAIN OF R d

Julian Bailey, El Maati Ouhabaz

### ▶ To cite this version:

Julian Bailey, El Maati Ouhabaz. THE KATO SQUARE ROOT PROBLEM ON AN ARBITRARY DOMAIN OF R d. 2019. hal-02006883

## HAL Id: hal-02006883 https://hal.science/hal-02006883

Preprint submitted on 4 Feb 2019

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# THE KATO SQUARE ROOT PROBLEM ON AN ARBITRARY DOMAIN OF $\mathbb{R}^d$

#### JULIAN BAILEY AND EL MAATI OUHABAZ

To the memory of Alan McIntosh

ABSTRACT. Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} = -\text{div}A\nabla$  an elliptic operator with bounded measurable and complex coefficients on  $L^2(\Omega)$ . The operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}$  is subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions. We solve the Kato square root problem for arbitrary  $\Omega$ . We prove that  $D(\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}}) = H_0^1(\Omega)$  and there exist a constant C > 0 such that

$$C^{-1} \left\| \nabla u \right\|_{2} \leq \left\| \sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}} \, u \right\|_{2} \leq C \left\| \nabla u \right\|_{2}, \, u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega).$$

We also allow perturbations by general potentials: for any  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  with range contained in a sector of  $\mathbb{C}^+$  with angle  $\omega_V \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  there exists  $C_V > 0$  such that

$$C_{V}^{-1}\left(\left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|_{2} + \|\nabla u\|_{2}\right) \le \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V}u\right\|_{2} \le C_{V}\left(\left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|_{2} + \|\nabla u\|_{2}\right)$$

for all  $u \in D\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V}\right) = H_0^1(\Omega) \cap D\left(\sqrt{|V|}\right)$ . The constant  $C_V$  depends on V only through  $\omega_V$ . In particular,  $C_V$  is independent of V for  $0 \leq V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ . We prove similar results for systems.

#### CONTENTS

1. Introduction and the main results	1
Acknowledgements	5
2. Preliminaries	6
2.1. Forms and Operators	6
2.2. Holomorphic Functional Calculus for Bisectorial Operators	7
2.3. AKM without Cancellation and Coercivity	9
3. Proof of Kato with Potential on $\mathbb{R}^d$	13
4. Square Function Estimates	20
4.1. Diagonalisation of the $P_t^V$ Operators	20
4.2. The Third Component	24
5. Proof of Kato on Domains	32
6. Kato for Systems	35
References	37

#### 1. INTRODUCTION AND THE MAIN RESULTS

We consider on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  divergence form elliptic operators  $\mathcal{L}u = -\operatorname{div} A \nabla u$ , where  $A = (a_{kl})$  with  $a_{kl} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the usual ellipticity condition

for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and all  $\xi = (\xi_1, ..., \xi_d) \in \mathbb{C}^d$ . Here  $\kappa_A > 0$  is a constant. Owing to the accretivity of  $\mathcal{L}$  one can define its square root  $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}$ . A famous problem posed by T. Kato asks whether the domain of  $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}$  coincides with the Sobolev space  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . The problem was open for decades until it was solved in 2002 by S. Hofmann, M. Lacey and A. McIntosh [17] and P. Auscher, S. Hofmann, M. Lacey, A. McIntosh and Ph. Tchamitchian [3]. We give a rapid review of the history of the problem and refer the reader to [17] and [3] and the references therein for additional information. The first positive answer to the Kato square root problem was given by R. Coifman, A. McIntosh and Y. Meyer [7] in dimension d = 1. For higher dimension, R. Coifman, D. Deng and Y. Meyer [8] and E. Fabes, D. Jerison and C. Kenig [12] proved the Kato square root property under the condition that the matrix A is a relatively small perturbation of the identity. A. McIntosh [20] gave a positive answer under the assumption that the coefficients  $a_{kl}$  act bounded by on some Sobolev spaces (which requires some regularity on the coefficients). S. Hofmann, M. Lacey and A. McIntosh [17] solved the problem for elliptic operators whose corresponding heat kernel has Gaussian upper bounds (such as the case of bounded measurable and real coefficients for example). The general case of bounded measurable and complex coefficients was solved by P. Auscher, S. Hofmann, M. Lacey, A. McIntosh and Ph. Tchamitchian [3].

Next, we move to the case of elliptic operators on domains. Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and consider as above an elliptic operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}$  on  $L^2(\Omega)$  that is subject to Dirichlet, Neumann or mixed boundary conditions. Kato's square root problem in this setting becomes whether the domain of  $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}}$  coincides with the domain of the corresponding sesquilinear form. That is,  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,  $H^1(\Omega)$  or an appropriate subspace between these two spaces for Dirichlet, Neumann or mixed boundary conditions respectively. P. Auscher and Ph. Tchamitchian [4] proved the Kato square root property for either Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions provided  $\Omega$  is a strongly Lipschitz domain. Based on their abstract approach in [5], A. Axelsson, S. Keith and A. McIntosh dealt in [6] with mixed boundary conditions under the assumption that  $\Omega$  is a bi-Lipschitz image of a certain smooth domain. The regularity required on  $\Omega$  was then improved by M. Egert, R. Haller-Dintelmann and P. Tolksdorf [10]. They assume that  $\Omega$  has an interior corkscrew condition together with the fact that it decomposes into a part D which satisfies the Ahlfors-David condition and  $\partial \Omega \setminus D$  has local bi-Lipschitz charts. The problem for an arbitrary domain of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is open. One of our main contributions in this paper is to provide a solution to this problem in the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions. See Corollary 1.2 below for the statement and the homogeneous estimate as in the case of the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

There is another motivation for this paper. We deal with the stability of the Kato square root estimate under perturbation by unbounded potential V. A. Axelsson, S. Keith

and A. McIntosh considered non-homogeneous operators on Lipschitz domains with mixed boundary conditions in [6] using the techniques developed in [5]. The potentials that they considered were, however, bounded both from above and below. In [13] and [14], F. Gesztesy, S. Hofmann and R. Nichols studied the domains of square root operators using techniques distinct from those developed in [5]. The aim in [13] and [14] is to prove that the square root property carries over from the homogeneous elliptic operator  $\mathcal{L}$  (or systems) with boundary conditions to  $\mathcal{L} + V$  for  $V \in L^p + L^{\infty}$  for appropriate  $p \geq \frac{d}{2}$ . As a result, they deal with mixed boundary conditions if  $\Omega$  satisfies the assumptions of [10] mentioned above.

In the present paper we deal with general potentials and prove the square root property with homogeneous estimates.

Let  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  and suppose that the range of V is contained in the sector

$$S_{\omega_V+} := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\} : |\arg(z)| \le \omega_V \text{ or } z = 0, \infty \}$$

for some  $\omega_V \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ . Define the subspace

(1.2) 
$$H_0^{1,V}(\Omega) := H_0^1(\Omega) \cap D\left(|V|^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) := \left\{ u \in H^1(\Omega) : |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} \ u \in L^2(\Omega) \right\}$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V$  the operator  $-\operatorname{div} A \nabla + V$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Our main result is the following theorem.

**Theorem 1.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$   $(d \ge 1)$  and V as above. Then  $D\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V}\right) = H_0^{1,V}(\Omega)$  and there exist a constant  $C_V > 0$  such that

$$C_{V}^{-1}\left(\|\nabla u\| + \left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u\|\right) \le \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V}u\right\| \le C_{V}\left(\|\nabla u\| + \left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u\|\right)$$

for all  $u \in H_0^{1,V}(\Omega)$ . Moreover, the constant  $C_V$  is dependent on the potential only through  $\omega_V$ .

Here  $\|\cdot\|$  is of course the usual norm in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . In this paper we use  $\|\cdot\|$  to denote the norm of the Hilbert space under consideration. In particular,  $\|\cdot\|$  is either  $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$  or  $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  depending on the context. The notation  $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$  will be used to denote the associated inner product.

The previous theorem contains, as a particular case, the solution of the Kato square root problem for elliptic operators with Dirichlet boundary conditions on an arbitrary domain  $\Omega$ . Simply set  $V \equiv 0$  in the above theorem. Due to the importance of this case, it is stated as its own result in the below corollary.

**Corollary 1.2.** We have  $D\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}}\right) = H_0^1(\Omega)$  and there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$C^{-1} \|\nabla u\| \le \left\| \sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}} u \right\| \le C \|\nabla u\|$$

for all  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

We also mention that these results remain valid for systems. See Section 6.

Now we explain our strategy of proof. Theorem 1.1 will be proved by first considering the particular case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ . We explain some of the main ideas used to obtain this case.

A few years following the solution to the original Kato square root problem in [3], an alternate method of proof appeared in [5]. This method of proof, in contrast to the original solution, considered first-order operators as opposed to second-order operators. Our solution to the Kato problem with potential for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  will be based on this method.

Let  $\Pi := \Gamma + \Gamma^*$  be a Dirac-type operator on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\Pi_B := \Gamma + B_1 \Gamma^* B_2$ be a perturbation of  $\Pi$  by bounded operators  $B_1$  and  $B_2$ . Typically,  $\Pi$  is considered to be a first-order system acting on  $\mathcal{H} := L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  for some  $d, N \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and the perturbations  $B_1$ and  $B_2$  are multiplication by matrix-valued functions  $B_1, B_2 \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^N))$ . In their seminal paper [5], A. Axelsson, S. Keith and A. McIntosh developed a general framework for proving that the perturbed operator  $\Pi_B$  possessed a bounded holomorphic functional calculus. This ultimately amounted to obtaining square function estimates of the form

(1.3) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\| Q_t^B u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \simeq \|u\|^2$$

where  $Q_t^B := t \Pi_B (I + t^2 \Pi_B^2)^{-1}$  and u is contained in the range  $\overline{R(\Pi_B)}$ . They proved that this estimate would follow entirely from a set of simple conditions imposed upon the operators  $\Gamma$ ,  $B_1$  and  $B_2$ , labelled (H1) - (H8). Then, by checking this list of conditions, the Axelsson-Keith-McIntosh framework, or AKM framework by way of abbreviation, could be used to conclude that the particular selection of operators

(1.4) 
$$\Gamma := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \nabla & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_1 = I, \quad B_2 = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix},$$

defined on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \oplus L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^d)$ , would satisfy (1.3) and therefore  $\Pi_B$  possess a bounded holomorphic functional calculus. The Kato square root estimate then followed almost trivially from this.

In direct analogy to the potential free case, the Kato problem with potential on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  will be solved by constructing appropriate potential dependent Dirac-type operators and demonstrating that they retain a bounded holomorphic functional calculus under perturbation. In particular, this strategy will be applied to the Dirac-type operator

(1.5) 
$$\Pi_V := \Gamma_V + \Gamma_V^* := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ \nabla & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} & -\operatorname{div} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

defined on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \oplus L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \oplus L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^d)$ , under the perturbation

(1.6) 
$$B_1 = I, \quad B_2 := \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & e^{i \cdot \arg V} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & A \end{pmatrix}.$$

It should be observed that the operator  $\Gamma_V$  will not necessarily satisfy the cancellation and coercivity conditions, (H7) and (H8), of [5] due to the presence of the zero-order potential

term. As such, the original framework developed by Axelsson, Keith and McIntosh cannot be directly applied. The key difficulty in proving our result is then to alter the original framework in order to allow for such operators. The technical challenge presented by the inclusion of the zero-order potential V will be overcome by separating our square function norm into components and demonstrating that the zero-order term will allow for the first two components to be bounded while the third component will be handled by similar arguments as in [5]. We make use of a range of techniques including diagonalisation, a local T(b) type argument and Carleson measure estimates. Our task, comparing with [5] and the other papers mentioned above, is made a bit more complicated by the fact that we keep track of the dependence of the estimates in terms of V in order to have constants which depend only the sectoriality angle  $\omega_V$ . This dependence only through  $\omega_V$  is the keystone of our proof for the Kato square root problem on domains.

This strategy does not however allow us to deal directly with general sectorial  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We first restrict attention to the class  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  of potentials V for which

$$[V]_{\alpha} := \sup_{u \in D(-\Delta + |V|)} \frac{\left\| |V|^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u\right\| + \left\| (-\Delta)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u\right\|}{\left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u\right\|} < \infty$$

for some  $\alpha \in (1,2]$ . Using the above ideas borrowed from [5] we prove the quadratic estimate

$$\left(C_V\left(1+[V]^2_{\alpha}\right)\right)^{-1} \|u\|^2 \le \int_0^\infty \left\|Q_t^{V,B}u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le C_V\left(1+[V]^2_{\alpha}\right) \|u\|^2$$

with  $Q_t^{V,B} = t \Pi_{V,B} \left( I + t^2 \Pi_{V,B}^2 \right)^{-1}$  and  $\Pi_{V,B} = \Gamma_V + B_1 \Gamma_V^* B_2$ . As mentioned above, we pay attention to the constants involved in the estimates in order to have  $C_V$  which is independent of  $\alpha$  and depends on V only through the angle of sectoriality  $\omega_V$ . This leads to the existence of a bounded holomorphic functional calculus for the bisectorial operator  $\Pi_{V,B}$ , which in turn leads to

$$\left(C_{V}\left(1+[V]_{\alpha}^{2}\right)\right)^{-1}\left(\|\nabla u\|+\left\|V^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|\right) \leq \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}+V}u\right\| \leq C_{V}\left(1+[V]_{\alpha}^{2}\right)\left(\|\nabla u\|+\left\|V^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|\right).$$

The rest of the proof of Theorem 1.1 for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  takes place in two stages. The first consists in removing the dependence of the above estimate on  $[V]_{\alpha}$  by letting  $\alpha \to 1$ . The second one uses an approximation argument. Here we use some ideas from E.M. Ouhabaz [23] in order to approximate in the resolvent sense  $\mathcal{L} + V$  by a sequence  $\mathcal{L} + V_n$  with sectorial potentials  $V_n \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ .

In order to deal with a general domain  $\Omega$  in Theorem 1.1 we use two approximation arguments. For smooth  $\Omega$ , the idea is to approximate  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V$ , as an operator on  $L^2(\Omega)$ , by the sequence of Schrödinger type operators  $\mathcal{L} + V + n \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega}$  acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . For general  $\Omega$ , we approximate  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V$  by  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega_n} + V$  with an increasing sequence of smooth open sets  $\Omega_n$ . The control of the constants will be given by the dependence of the constants for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ on V only through  $\omega_V$ .

#### Acknowledgements

Prior to commencing this project, it was suggested by the second named author to Pierre Portal that Kato's estimates for Schrödinger type operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with a control on the constant would have interesting applications and, in particular, could be used to solve the Kato square root problem on domains. Very recently, the first named author, a PhD student under the supervision of Pierre Portal, proved the estimates in Theorem 1.1 for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  for a class of potentials related to the reverse Hölder class. However, at the time the result was proved without the control on the constant required for the applications. These results were subsequently submitted to the journal Mathematische Nachrichten and reviewed. It was only following this that it became clear to us how to obtain the desired control on the constant for general potentials. The present paper greatly improves the first named author's unpublished article and allows us to realize the wish that Kato's square root problem is true on any arbitrary domain. Both authors would like to thank Pierre Portal for numerous very helpful discussions. The first named author would like to thank the anonymous referee of the article submitted to Mathematische Nachrichten for providing such a detailed and thoughtful critique.

While the first named author was working on the unpublished article, it was found that Andrew Morris and Andrew Turner from the University of Birmingham had also obtained results on Kato with potential on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . After meeting them and discussing their research, it is clear that the two approaches differ in their assumptions and, more substantially, their proofs.

The research of E.M. Ouhabaz is partly supported by the ANR project RAGE ANR-18-CE40-0012.

The research of J. Bailey is partly supported by the Australian Research Council through the Discovery Project DP160100941.

#### 2. Preliminaries

2.1. Forms and Operators. Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let A be a  $d \times d$ -matrix whose coefficients  $a_{kl} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$  satisfy the ellipticity condition (1.1) on  $\Omega$ . We define the sesquilinear form

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}(u,v) = \int_{\Omega} \langle A(x) \nabla u, \nabla v \rangle \, dx = \sum_{k,l=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} a_{kl} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_k} \overline{\frac{\partial v}{\partial x_l}} \, dx$$

for  $u, v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Then  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}$  is a densely defined, sectorial and closed form. Its associated operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}$  is formally given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} u = -\mathrm{div} A \nabla u$$

and subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions.

For a given potential  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$  with range contained in a sector  $S_{\omega_V+}$  of angle  $\omega_V \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V$  the operator associated with the sectorial and closed form

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V}(u,v) = \mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}(u,v) + \int_{\Omega} V u \overline{v} \, dx$$

with domain

$$H_0^{1,V}(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega) , \int_{\Omega} |V| |u|^2 \, dx < \infty \right\}.$$

The form  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V}$  clearly satisfies the Gårding inequality (or coercivity inequality)

(2.1) 
$$\operatorname{Re}\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V}(u,u) \geq \kappa_{A}^{V}\left(\left\|\left|V\right|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|^{2} + \left\|\nabla u\right\|^{2}\right)$$

for all  $u \in H_0^{1,V}(\Omega)$ , where  $\kappa_A^V$  is a positive constant which depends on the potential only through  $\omega_V$ . Recall that

$$D\left(\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}+V\right) = \left\{ u \in H_0^{1,V}\left(\Omega\right) : \exists w \in L^2\left(\Omega\right) \ s.t. \ \mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^V\left(u,v\right) = \langle w,v \rangle \ \forall \ v \in H_0^{1,V}\left(\Omega\right) \right\}.$$

In the particular case where  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  we drop the subscript  $\Omega$  in the notation and write  $\mathfrak{a}$ ,  $\mathfrak{a}^V$ ,  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{L} + V$  for the corresponding forms and operators.

Note that the operators defined above are all maximal accretive and hence we can define their square roots  $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}_{\Omega}$ ,  $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V}$ ,  $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}$  and  $\sqrt{\mathcal{L} + V}$ .

**Remark 2.1.** Note that the results in this paper remain valid under the assumption that the form  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}$  satisfies the corresponding Gårding inequality

$$\operatorname{Re}\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}\left(u,u\right) \geq \kappa_{A} \left\|\nabla u\right\|^{2}$$

for all  $u \in D(\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega})$ , for some  $\kappa_A > 0$ , instead of the pointwise ellipticity condition (1.1).

2.2. Holomorphic Functional Calculus for Bisectorial Operators. Let us briefly recall what it means for a bisectorial operator to possess a bounded holomorphic functional calculus. For a thorough treatment of functional calculus for bisectorial operators, it is recommended that the reader refer to [21], [9], [15], [18] or [1].

For  $\mu \in [0, \pi)$ , define the open and closed sectors

$$S_{\mu+}^{o} := \begin{cases} \{z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\} : |\arg(z)| < \mu\} & \mu \in (0,\pi) \\ (0,\infty) & \mu = 0 \end{cases}$$

and

$$S_{\mu+} := \begin{cases} \{z \in \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\} : |\arg(z)| \le \mu \text{ or } z = 0, \infty\} & \mu \in (0,\pi) \\ [0,\infty] & \mu = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then, for  $\mu \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ , define the open and closed bisectors

$$S^o_{\mu} := \left(S^o_{\mu+}\right) \cup \left(-S^o_{\mu+}\right)$$

and

$$S_{\mu} := (S_{\mu+}) \cup (-S_{\mu+})$$

respectively. Throughout this section we consider bisectorial operators defined on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ .

**Definition 2.2** (Bisectorial Operator). A linear operator  $T : D(T) \subseteq \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  is said to be  $\omega$ -bisectorial for  $\omega \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$  if the spectrum  $\sigma(T)$  is contained in the bisector  $S_{\omega}$  and if for any  $\mu \in \left(\omega, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ , there exists  $C_{\mu} > 0$  such that the resolvent bound

(2.2) 
$$|\zeta| \left\| (\zeta I - T)^{-1} \right\| \le C_{\mu}$$

holds for all  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus S_{\mu}$ . T is said to be bisectorial if it is  $\omega$ -bisectorial for some  $\omega \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ .

An interesting fact concerning bisectorial operators is the following decomposition result.

**Proposition 2.3** ([9, Thm. 3.8]). Let  $T : D(T) \subset \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  be a bisectorial operator. Then T is necessarily densely defined and the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  admits the following decomposition

$$\mathcal{H} = N\left(T\right) \oplus \overline{R\left(T\right)}.$$

Let T be an  $\omega$ -bisectorial operator for  $\omega \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$  and  $\mu \in \left(\omega, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ . Define the following algebras of functions

$$H^{\infty}\left(S^{o}_{\mu}\right) := \left\{f \text{ holomorphic} : \|f\|_{\infty} := \sup_{z \in S^{o}_{\mu}} |f(z)| < \infty\right\}$$
$$H^{\infty}_{0}\left(S^{o}_{\mu}\right) := \left\{f \in H^{\infty}\left(S^{o}_{\mu}\right) : \exists C, \alpha > 0 \text{ s.t. } |f(z)| \le C \frac{|z|^{\alpha}}{1 + |z|^{2\alpha}} \ \forall \ z \in S^{o}_{\mu}\right\}$$

For any  $f \in H_0^{\infty}(S^o_{\mu})$ , one can define the operator f(T) as follows. For  $u \in \mathcal{H}$ , define

$$f(T) u := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\gamma} f(z) \left( zI - T \right)^{-1} u \, dz,$$

where the curve

$$\gamma := \left\{ \pm r e^{\pm i\nu} : 0 \le r < \infty \right\}$$

for some  $\nu \in (\omega, \mu)$  is traversed anticlockwise. This association is a well-defined algebra homorphism from  $H_0^{\infty}\left(S_{\mu}^o\right)$  to  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ .

**Definition 2.4.** Let  $0 \leq \omega < \mu < \frac{\pi}{2}$ . An  $\omega$ -bisectorial operator  $T : D(T) \subset \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  is said to have a bounded  $H^{\infty}(S^{o}_{\mu})$ -functional calculus if there exists c > 0 such that

(2.3) 
$$||f(T)|| \le c ||f||_{\infty}$$

for all  $f \in H_0^{\infty}(S_{\mu}^o)$ . T is said to have a bounded holomorphic functional calculus if it has a bounded  $H^{\infty}(S_{\mu}^o)$ -functional calculus for some  $\mu$ .

It is a well known fact that if (2.3) holds for all  $f \in H_0^{\infty}(S_{\mu}^o)$  then there exists a well-defined extension of the homomorphism  $f \mapsto f(T)$  to all of  $H^{\infty}(S_{\mu}^o)$ . Moreover,  $g(T) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  and (2.3) holds for all  $g \in H^{\infty}(S_{\mu}^o)$ .

Let  $q: S^o_\mu \to \mathbb{C}$  be defined through

$$q(z) := \frac{z}{1+z^2}, \quad z \in S^o_\mu.$$

For t > 0, let  $q_t$  denote the function  $q_t(z) := q(tz)$  for  $z \in S^o_{\mu}$ . Then  $q_t \in H^\infty_0\left(S^o_{\mu}\right)$  for any t > 0 and one can define  $q_t(T)$ .

**Definition 2.5** (Square Function Estimates). A bisectorial operator T on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is said to satisfy square function estimates if there exists a constant  $C_{SF} > 0$  such that

(2.4) 
$$C_{SF}^{-1} \|u\|^2 \le \int_0^\infty \|q_t(T)u\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le C_{SF} \|u\|^2$$

for all  $u \in \overline{R(T)}$ .

**Remark 2.6.** The use of the function q in the above definition of square function estimates is somewhat arbitrary. Indeed, it can be swapped with  $\psi$  for any  $\psi \in H_0^{\infty}(S_{\mu}^o)$  not identically equal to zero on either  $S_{\mu+}^o$  or  $(-S_{\mu+}^o)$ . This follows from the equivalence of these two norms as stated in [21] or [15, Thm. 7.3.1].

For self-adjoint operators, the following basic result holds.

**Proposition 2.7.** Suppose that T is self-adjoint. Then for any  $u \in \mathcal{H}$ ,

$$\int_0^\infty \|q_t(T)u\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le \frac{1}{2} \|u\|^2.$$

Equality will hold if  $u \in \overline{R(T)}$ .

The proof of the following theorem can be found in [9] or [1]. The constant dependence is not explicitly stated in either of these references but it is straightforward to trace through their arguments to obtain the below dependence.

**Theorem 2.8.** Let T be an  $\omega$ -bisectorial operator on  $\mathcal{H}$  for  $\omega \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ . Suppose that T satisfies square function estimates with constant  $C_{SF} > 0$ . Then T must have a bounded  $H^{\infty}(S^{o}_{\mu})$ -functional calculus for any  $\mu \in (\omega, \frac{\pi}{2})$ . In particular, there exists a constant c > 0, independent of T, such that

$$\|f(T)\| \le c C_{SF} C_{\mu} \|f\|_{\infty}$$

for all  $f \in H_0^{\infty}(S_{\mu}^o)$ , where  $C_{\mu} > 0$  is the constant from the resolvent estimate (2.2).

2.3. AKM without Cancellation and Coercivity. The operators that we wish to consider,  $\Gamma_V$ , will satisfy the first six conditions of [5]. However, they will not necessarily satisfy the cancellation condition (H7) and the coercivity condition (H8). It will therefore be fruitful to see what happens to the original AKM framework when the cancellation and coercivity conditions are removed.

Similar to the original result, we begin by assuming that we have operators that satisfy the hypotheses (H1) - (H3) from [5]. Recall these conditions for operators  $\Gamma$ ,  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ .

(H1)  $\Gamma: D(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{H}$  is a closed, densely defined, nilpotent operator.

(H2)  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  satisfy the accretivity conditions

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle B_1u, u \rangle \ge \kappa_1 \|u\|^2$$
 and  $\operatorname{Re}\langle B_2v, v \rangle \ge \kappa_2 \|v\|^2$ 

for all  $u \in R(\Gamma^*)$  and  $v \in R(\Gamma)$  for some  $\kappa_1, \kappa_2 > 0$ .

(H3) The operators  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma^*$  satisfy

 $\Gamma^* B_2 B_1 \Gamma^* = 0 \qquad and \qquad \Gamma B_1 B_2 \Gamma = 0.$ 

In [5] Section 4, the authors assume that they have operators that satisfy the hypotheses (H1) - (H3) and they derive several important operator theoretic consequences from only these three hypotheses. As our operators  $\Gamma$ ,  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  also satisfy (H1) - (H3), it follows that the results in [5] Section 4 can be applied for these operators. In the interest of making this article as self-contained as possible, we will now restate any such result that is to be used in this paper.

**Proposition 2.9** ([5]). Define the perturbation dependent operators

 $\Gamma_B^* := B_1 \Gamma^* B_2, \quad \Gamma_B := B_2^* \Gamma B_1^* \quad and \quad \Pi_B := \Gamma + \Gamma_B^*.$ 

The Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  has the following Hodge decomposition into closed subspaces:

(2.5) 
$$\mathcal{H} = N\left(\Pi_B\right) \oplus \overline{R\left(\Gamma_B^*\right)} \oplus \overline{R\left(\Gamma\right)}$$

Moreover, we have  $N(\Pi_B) = N(\Gamma_B^*) \cap N(\Gamma)$  and  $\overline{R(\Pi_B)} = \overline{R(\Gamma_B^*)} \oplus \overline{R(\Gamma)}$ . When  $B_1 = B_2 = I$  these decompositions are orthogonal, and in general the decompositions are topological. Similarly, there is also a decomposition

$$\mathcal{H} = N\left(\Pi_B^*\right) \oplus \overline{R\left(\Gamma_B\right)} \oplus \overline{R\left(\Gamma^*\right)}$$

**Proposition 2.10** ([5]). The perturbed Dirac-type operator  $\Pi_B$  is an  $\omega$ -bisectorial operator with  $\omega := \frac{1}{2} (\omega_1 + \omega_2)$  where

$$\omega_1 := \sup_{u \in R(\Gamma^*) \setminus \{0\}} |\arg \langle B_1 u, u \rangle| < \frac{\pi}{2}$$

and

$$\omega_2 := \sup_{u \in R(\Gamma) \setminus \{0\}} |\arg \langle B_2 u, u \rangle| < \frac{\pi}{2}$$

The bisectoriality of  $\Pi_B$  ensures that the following operators will be well-defined.

**Definition 2.11.** For  $t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , define the perturbation dependent operators

$$R_t^B := (I + it\Pi_B)^{-1}, \quad P_t^B := (I + t^2 (\Pi_B)^2)^{-1},$$
$$Q_t^B := t\Pi_B P_t^B \quad and \quad \Theta_t^B := t\Gamma_B^* P_t^B.$$

When there is no perturbation, i.e. when  $B_1 = B_2 = I$ , the *B* will dropped from the superscript or subscript. For example, instead of  $\Theta_t^I$  or  $\Pi_I$  the notation  $\Theta_t$  and  $\Pi$  will be employed.

**Remark 2.12.** An easy consequence of Proposition 2.10 is that the operators  $R_t^B$ ,  $P_t^B$  and  $Q_t^B$  are all uniformly  $\mathcal{H}$ -bounded in t. Furthermore, on taking the Hodge decomposition in Proposition 2.9 into account, it is clear that the operators  $\Theta_t^B$  will also be uniformly  $\mathcal{H}$ -bounded in t.

The next result tells us how the operators  $\Pi_B$  and  $P_t^B$  interact with  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma_B^*$ .

**Lemma 2.13** ([5]). The following relations are true.

$$\Pi_B \Gamma u = \Gamma_B^* \Pi_B u \quad for \ all \ u \in D\left(\Gamma_B^* \Pi_B\right),$$
  
$$\Pi_B \Gamma_B^* u = \Gamma \Pi_B u \quad for \ all \ u \in D\left(\Gamma \Pi_B\right),$$
  
$$\Gamma P_t^B u = P_t^B \Gamma u \quad for \ all \ u \in D\left(\Gamma\right), \quad and$$
  
$$\Gamma_B^* P_t^B u = P_t^B \Gamma_B^* u \quad for \ all \ u \in D\left(\Gamma_B^*\right).$$

The subsequent lemma provides a square function estimate for the unperturbed Diractype operator  $\Pi$ . When considering square function estimates for the perturbed operator, there will be several instances where the perturbed case can be reduced with the assistance of this unperturbed estimate. Its proof follows directly from the self-adjointness of the operator  $\Pi$  and Proposition 2.7.

Lemma 2.14 ([5]). The quadratic estimate

(2.6) 
$$\int_0^\infty \|Q_t u\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le \frac{1}{2} \|u\|^2$$

holds for all  $u \in \mathcal{H}$ . Equality holds on  $\overline{R(\Pi)}$ .

The following result will play a crucial role in the reduction of the square function estimate (1.3).

**Proposition 2.15** ([5]). Assume that the estimate

(2.7) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^B P_t u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le c \|u\|^2$$

holds for all  $u \in R(\Gamma)$  and some constant c > 0, together with three similar estimates obtained on replacing  $\{\Gamma, B_1, B_2\}$  by  $\{\Gamma^*, B_2, B_1\}$ ,  $\{\Gamma^*, B_2^*, B_1^*\}$  and  $\{\Gamma, B_1^*, B_2^*\}$ . Then  $\Pi_B$ satisfies the quadratic estimate

(2.8) 
$$(cC)^{-1} \|u\|^2 \le \int_0^\infty \|Q_t^B u\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le cC \|u\|^2$$

for all  $u \in \overline{R(\Pi_B)}$ , for some C > 0 entirely dependent on (H1)- (H3).

The constant dependence of (2.8) is not explicitly mentioned in Proposition 4.8 of [5], but it is relatively easy to trace through their argument and record where (2.7) is used. The following corollary is proved during the course of the proof of Proposition 4.8 of [5].

**Corollary 2.16** (High Frequency Estimate). For any  $u \in R(\Gamma)$ , there exists a constant c > 0 for which

$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^B \left(I - P_t\right) u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le c \|u\|^2.$$

From this point onwards, it will also be assumed that our operators satisfy the additional hypotheses (H4) - (H6). These hypotheses are stated below for reference.

(H4) The Hilbert space is  $\mathcal{H} = L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N\right)$  for some  $d, N \in \mathbb{N}^*$ .

(H5) The operators  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  represent multiplication by matrix-valued functions. That is,

$$B_1(f)(x) = B_1(x)f(x) \quad and \quad B_2(f)(x) = B_2(x)f(x)$$
  
for all  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , where  $B_1, B_2 \in L^{\infty}\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{C}^N\right)\right)$ .

(H6) For every bounded Lipschitz function  $\eta : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ , we have that  $\eta D(\Gamma) \subset D(\Gamma)$ and  $\eta D(\Gamma^*) \subset D(\Gamma^*)$ . Moreover, the commutators  $[\Gamma, \eta I]$  and  $[\Gamma^*, \eta I]$  are multiplication operators that satisfy the bound

$$\left|\left[\Gamma,\eta I\right](x)\right|, \ \left|\left[\Gamma^*,\eta I\right](x)\right| \le c \left|\nabla\eta(x)\right|$$

for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and some constant c > 0.

In contrast to the original result, our operators will not be assumed to satisfy the cancellation condition (H7) and the coercivity condition (H8). Without these two conditions, many of the results from Section 5 of [5] will fail. One notable exception to this is that the bounded operators associated with our perturbed Dirac-type operator  $\Pi_B$  will satisfy off-diagonal estimates.

**Definition 2.17** (Off-Diagonal Bounds). Define  $\langle x \rangle := 1 + |x|$  for  $x \in \mathbb{C}$  and dist $(E, F) := \inf \{|x - y| : x \in E, y \in F\}$  for  $E, F \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ .

Let  $\{U_t\}_{t>0}$  be a family of operators on  $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . This collection is said to have off-diagonal bounds of order M > 0 if there exists  $C_M > 0$  such that

(2.9) 
$$||U_t u||_{L^2(E)} \le C_M \langle \operatorname{dist}(E, F)/t \rangle^{-M} ||u||$$

whenever  $E, F \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  are Borel sets and  $u \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfies supp  $u \subset F$ .

**Proposition 2.18** ([5]). Let  $U_t$  be given by either  $R_t^B$ ,  $R_{-t}^B$ ,  $P_t^B$ ,  $Q_t^B$  or  $\Theta_t^B$  for every t > 0. The collection of operators  $\{U_t\}_{t>0}$  has off-diagonal bounds of every order M > 0. Moreover, the constant  $C_M$  in the estimate (2.9) depends only on M and the hypotheses (H1) - (H6).

Introduce the following dyadic decomposition of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let  $\Box = \bigcup_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \Box_{2^j}$  where  $\Box_t := \{2^j (k + (0, 1]^n) : k \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$  if  $2^{j-1} < t \leq 2^j$ . Define the averaging operator  $A_t : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  through

$$A_t u(x) := \frac{1}{|Q(x,t)|} \int_{Q(x,t)} u(y) \, dy$$

for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , t > 0 and  $u \in \mathcal{H}$ , where Q(x, t) is the unique dyadic cube in  $\Box_t$  that contains the point x.

For an operator family  $\{U_t\}_{t>0}$  that satisfies off-diagonal bounds of every order, there exists an extension  $U_t : L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N) \to L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$  for each t > 0. This is constructed by defining

$$U_t u(x) := \lim_{r \to \infty} \sum_{\substack{R \in \square_t \\ \operatorname{dist}(Q,R) < r}} U_t \left( \mathbb{1}_R u \right)(x),$$

for  $x \in Q \in \square_t$  and  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N)$ . The convergence of the above limit is guaranteed by the off-diagonal bounds of  $\{U_t\}_{t>0}$ . Further detail on this construction can be found in [5], [11], [22]. Following [5], the above extension then allows us to introduce the principal part of the operator  $U_t$ .

**Definition 2.19.** Let  $\{U_t\}_{t>0}$  be operators on  $\mathcal{H}$  that satisfy off-diagonal bounds of every order. For t > 0, the principal part of  $U_t$  is the operator  $\zeta_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^N)$  defined through

$$\left[\zeta_t(x)\right](w) := \left(U_t w\right)(x)$$

for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $w \in \mathbb{C}^N$ .

The following generalisation of Corollary 5.3 of [5] will also be true with an identical proof.

**Proposition 2.20.** Let  $\{U_t\}_{t>0}$  be operators on  $\mathcal{H}$  that satisfy off-diagonal bounds of every order. Let  $\zeta_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^N)$  denote the principal part of the operator  $U_t$ . Then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\int_{Q} \left| \zeta_t(y) \right|^2 dy \le c$$

for all  $Q \in \square_t$ . Moreover, the operators  $\zeta_t A_t$  are uniformly  $\mathcal{H}$ -bounded in t.

Finally, the ensuing partial result will also be valid. Its proof follows in an identical manner to the first part of the proof of Proposition 5.5 of [5].

**Proposition 2.21.** Let  $\{U_t\}_{t>0}$  be operators on  $\mathcal{H}$  that satisfy off-diagonal bounds of every order. Let  $\zeta_t : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^N)$  denote the principal part of  $U_t$ . Then there exists c > 0 such that

(2.10) 
$$\| (U_t - \zeta_t A_t) v \| \le c \| t \nabla v \| .$$

for any  $v \in H^1\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^N\right) \subset \mathcal{H}$  and t > 0.

#### 3. Proof of Kato with Potential on $\mathbb{R}^d$

The aim of this section is to prove Theorem 1.1 for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ . As explained in the introduction, the proof is based on the holomorphic functional calculus (equivalently square function estimates) for Dirac-type operators. The proof of one of the square function estimates will be postponed to the next section.

We start by introducing a class of potentials. For  $\alpha \in [1, 2]$ , define  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  to be the class of all measurable functions  $V \in L^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  for which

$$[V]_{\alpha} := \sup_{u \in D(-\Delta + |V|)} \frac{\left\| |V|^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u \right\| + \left\| (-\Delta)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u \right\|}{\left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u \right\|} < \infty.$$

The supremum is taken over  $D(-\Delta + |V|)$  but it coincides with the supremum over  $D((-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}})$  since  $D(-\Delta + |V|)$  is a core of the operator  $(-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ .

As will be proved in Lemma 3.9,  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  is a decreasing class of potentials and  $\mathcal{W}_{1} = L^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ .

As a first step, we state a weaker version of Theorem 1.1 for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  for potentials which are in  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ .

**Proposition 3.1.** Let  $V \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in (1,2]$  and suppose that the range of V is contained in a sector  $S_{\omega_V+}$  for some  $\omega_V \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ . Then there exists  $C_V > 0$ , dependent on the potential only through  $\omega_V$ , for which (3.1)

$$\left(C_{V}\left(1+[V]_{\alpha}^{2}\right)\right)^{-1}\left(\|\nabla u\|+\left\|V^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|\right) \leq \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}+V}\,u\right\| \leq C_{V}\left(1+[V]_{\alpha}^{2}\right)\left(\|\nabla u\|+\left\|V^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|\right)$$

for all  $u \in D(\mathcal{L} + V)$ . The constant  $C_V$  is independent of  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ .

**Remark 3.2.** In the previous proposition, as well as in the forthcoming results, we emphasize the independence of  $C_V$  from  $\alpha$ . The reason for this lies in the fact that we will let  $\alpha \rightarrow 1$  in (3.1) in order to obtain the result for general potentials. Therefore we at least need a constant that does not explode when taking the limit.

**Notation.** For the remainder of this article, the notation  $A \leq B$  and  $A \simeq B$  will be used to denote that there exists a constant  $C_V > 0$ , independent of  $\alpha$  and dependent on the potential only through  $\omega_V$ , such that  $A \leq C_V B$  and  $C_V^{-1}B \leq A \leq C_V B$ .

Fix  $V \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$  with angle of sectoriality  $\omega_V \in \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ . Define the Hilbert space

$$\mathcal{H} := L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^{d+2}\right) = L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}\right) \oplus L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}\right) \oplus L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^d).$$

Let  $\mathbb{P}_i$  denote the natural projection map onto the subspace corresponding to the *i*th component of  $\mathcal{H}$  for i = 1, 2 and 3. The notation  $\mathbb{P}_i$  will also be used to denote the projection map onto the *i*th subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+2} = \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C}^n$ . The *i*th component of a vector  $v \in \mathcal{H}$  will be denoted by  $v_i$  so that  $v = (v_1, v_2, v_3)$  with  $v_1, v_2 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $v_3 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^d)$ .

Let  $\Gamma_V$  be the operator on  $\mathcal{H}$  defined by

$$\Gamma_V := \left( \begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ \nabla & 0 & 0 \end{array} \right).$$

Also define

$$\Gamma_{0} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \nabla & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad M_{V} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\Pi_{0} := \Gamma_{0} + \Gamma_{0}^{*} \quad and \quad \Pi_{V} := \Gamma_{V} + \Gamma_{V}^{*}.$$

Let  $B_1, B_2 \in L^{\infty}\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{C}^{d+2}\right)\right)$  be the matrix-valued multiplication operators

(3.2) 
$$B_1 = I, \quad B_2 := \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & e^{i \cdot \arg V} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & A \end{pmatrix}.$$

**Proposition 3.3.** The family of operators  $\{\Gamma_0, B_1, B_2\}$  satisfies the conditions (H1) - (H8) of [5] while  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1, B_2\}$  satisfies only (H1) - (H6).

Proof. Assumptions (H1), (H3), (H4) and (H5) are obvious from the definitions of the operators. (H2) follows from the ellipticity assumption (1.1) for  $\{\Gamma_0, B_1, B_2\}$  and from (2.1) for  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1, B_2\}$ . (H6) for both sets of operators follows from the fact that the order of the operators  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_V$  is less than or equal to one. (H7) for  $\{\Gamma_0, B_1, B_2\}$  is given by the homogeneity of  $\Gamma_0$  and (H8) is given by the boundedness of the Riesz transforms  $\partial_j \partial_k (-\Delta)^{-1}$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for  $j, k = 1, \cdots, d$ .

For reference, the cancellation condition (H7) and the coercivity condition (H8) are given below for the operator  $\Gamma_0$ .

(H7) For any  $u \in D(\Gamma_0)$  and  $v \in D(\Gamma_0^*)$ , both compactly supported,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma_0 u = 0 \quad and \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma_0^* v = 0.$$

(H8) There exists c > 0 such that

$$\|\nabla u\| \le c \, \|\Pi_0 u\|$$

for all  $u \in R(\Pi_0) \cap D(\Pi_0)$ .

**Remark 3.4.** Since the operators  $\{\Gamma_0, B_1, B_2\}$  satisfy all eight conditions (H1) - (H8) of [5], we can then apply the results from that paper to these operators.

**Definition 3.5.** For  $t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , define the perturbation dependent operators

$$\Gamma_{V,B}^* := B_1 \Gamma_V^* B_2, \quad \Pi_{V,B} := \Gamma_V + \Gamma_{V,B}^*,$$
$$R_t^{V,B} := (I + it \Pi_{V,B})^{-1}, \quad P_t^{V,B} := \left(I + t^2 \left(\Pi_{V,B}\right)^2\right)^{-1},$$
$$Q_t^{V,B} := t \Pi_{V,B} P_t^{V,B} \quad and \quad \Theta_t^{V,B} := t \Gamma_{V,B}^* P_t^{V,B}.$$

When there is no perturbation, i.e. when  $B_1 = B_2 = I$ , the *B* will dropped from the superscript or subscript. For example, instead of  $\Theta_t^{V,I}$  the notation  $\Theta_t^V$  will be employed.

The main result that will be used to prove the Kato estimate with potential on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is the following square function estimate.

**Theorem 3.6.** Let  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1, B_2\}$  be as defined above. There exists a constant  $C_V > 0$ , dependent on the potential only through  $\omega_V$ , such that

(3.3) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \Theta_t^{V,B} P_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le C_V \left( 1 + [V]_\alpha^2 \right) \|u\|^2$$

for all  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$ . The constant  $C_V$  is independent of  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ .

The proof of this theorem will be reserved for Section 4. Next, we consider an estimate that serves as a dual to (3.3).

**Proposition 3.7.** For t > 0, define the operator

$$\underline{P}_{t}^{V,B} := \left(I + t^{2} \left(\Gamma_{V}^{*} + B_{2} \Gamma_{V} B_{1}\right)^{2}\right)^{-1}.$$

The square function estimate

(3.4) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\underline{P}_t^{V,B} t B_2 \Gamma_V B_1 P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \|u\|^2$$

will hold for all  $u \in \mathcal{H}$ .

*Proof.* Since  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1, B_2\}$  satisfies (H1) - (H6) it follows that  $\{\Gamma_V^*, B_2, B_1\}$  will also satisfy (H1) - (H6). Proposition 2.10 then implies that the operators  $\underline{P}_t^{V,B}$  are well-defined and uniformly  $L^2$ -bounded (by a constant depending on V only through  $\omega_V$ ). On applying this to the left-hand side of (3.4),

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty \left\|\underline{P}_t^{V,B} t B_2 \Gamma_V B_1 P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} &\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\|t B_2 \Gamma_V B_1 P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\|t \Gamma_V P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\leq \int_0^\infty \left\|t \Pi_V P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left\|u\right\|^2, \end{split}$$

where the inequality  $\|\Gamma_V v\| \leq \|\Pi_V v\|$  for  $v \in D(\Pi_V)$  follows immediately from the threeby-three matrix form of the operators and Lemma 2.14 was applied to obtain the last line.

From Theorem 3.6 and the previous proposition, the upper and lower square function estimates for  $Q_t^{V,B}$  can be proved.

Theorem 3.8. The estimate

(3.5) 
$$\left(1 + [V]_{\alpha}^{2}\right)^{-1} \|u\|^{2} \lesssim \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\|Q_{t}^{V,B}u\right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left(1 + [V]_{\alpha}^{2}\right) \|u\|^{2}$$

holds for all  $u \in \overline{R(\Pi_V)}$ .

*Proof.* Proposition 2.15 states that in order to prove the square function estimate (3.5), it is sufficient for the estimate (3.3) to be valid for the permutations of operators  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1, B_2\}$ ,  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1^*, B_2^*\}$ ,  $\{\Gamma_V^*, B_2, B_1\}$  and  $\{\Gamma_V^*, B_2^*, B_1^*\}$ . The first permutations  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1, B_2\}$  and  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1^*, B_2^*\}$  both come under the umbrella of Theorem 3.6. The permutations  $\{\Gamma_V^*, B_2, B_1\}$  and  $\{\Gamma_V^*, B_2^*, B_1^*\}$  are handled by Proposition 3.7 by observing that  $\underline{P}_t^{V,B}$  and  $B_2\Gamma_V B_1$  commute on an appropriate space (cf. Lemma 2.13).

Proof of Proposition 3.1. From the upper and lower estimates of the previous theorem, Theorem 2.8 then implies that  $\Pi_{V,B}$  has a bounded holomorphic functional calculus. Applying this with the functions  $f(z) = \frac{z}{\sqrt{z^2}}$  and  $g(z) = \frac{\sqrt{z^2}}{z}$  to a vector  $(u, 0, 0) \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $u \in D\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{L}+V}\right)$  then completes the proof of Proposition 3.1.

Let us now dispose of the dependence of the Kato estimate on the constant  $[V]_{\alpha}$  through an interpolation argument.

**Lemma 3.9.** Suppose that the potential V is in  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ . Then  $V \in \mathcal{W}_{\beta}$  for any  $\beta \in [1, \alpha]$  with

$$[V]_{\beta} \le 2\left( [V]_{\alpha} \right)^{\frac{\beta-1}{\alpha-1}}.$$

*Proof.* The first observation is that  $[V]_1 \leq 2$  for any locally integrable  $V : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ . Indeed, due to positivity of the operator  $(-\Delta)$ ,

$$\left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\|^{2} = \langle |V| u, u \rangle$$
  
$$\leq \langle (-\Delta + |V|) u, u \rangle$$
  
$$= \left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\|^{2}.$$

Identical reasoning can be applied to obtain the bound

$$\left\| (-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| \le \left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\|$$

This proves that  $[V]_1 \leq 2$  and therefore  $\mathcal{W}_1$  is the class of all  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with no further restriction.

Assume that  $V \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ . We use interpolation to prove that  $V \in \mathcal{W}_{\beta}$  for  $\beta \in [1, \alpha]$  with the constant given in (3.6). Define the Banach spaces

$$X_1 := \left\{ u \in L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right) : \|u\|_{X_1} := \frac{1}{M} \|u\|_2 + \left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\|_2 < \infty \right\}$$

and

$$Y_1 := \left\{ u \in L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right) : \|u\|_{Y_1} := \frac{1}{M} \|u\|_2 + \left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u \right\|_2 < \infty \right\}$$

where M > 0. The corresponding complex interpolation space is

$$[X_1, Y_1]_{\theta} := \left\{ u \in L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right) : \|u\|_{[X_1, Y_1]_{\theta}} := \frac{1}{M} \|u\|_2 + \left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{\alpha - 1}{2}\right)\theta} u \right\|_2 < \infty \right\},$$

for  $0 \le \theta \le 1$ . Also set

$$X_2 = Y_2 = L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right).$$

For z in the strip

$$S := \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 \le \operatorname{Re} z \le 1 \right\},\$$

define the operator  $T_z$  on  $X_1 \cap Y_1$  through

$$T_z u := |V|^{\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{\alpha - 1}{2}\right)z} u,$$

for  $u \in X_1 \cap Y_1$ . Then, if  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$T_{it}u\|_{X_{2}} = \|T_{it}u\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$= \left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{\alpha - 1}{2}\right)it} u\right\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$= \left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u\right\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\leq \left\|(-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{1}{2}} u\right\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\leq \|u\|_{X_{1}}$$

for  $u \in X_1 \cap Y_1$ . This implies that  $T_{it}$  can be extended to a linear operator on  $X_1$  with

$$||T_{it}||_{\mathcal{L}(X_1,X_2)} \le 1.$$

Similarly,

$$\begin{split} |T_{1+it}u||_{Y_2} &= \|T_{1+it}u\|_{L^2} \\ &= \left\| |V|^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u \right\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq [V]_{\alpha} \left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u \right\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq [V]_{\alpha} \left\| u \right\|_{Y_1} \end{split}$$

for  $u \in X_1 \cap Y_1$ . This implies that  $T_{1+it}$  extends to a linear operator on  $Y_1$  with

$$||T_{1+it}||_{\mathcal{L}(Y_1,Y_2)} \le [V]_{\alpha}$$

Hence,

(3.7) 
$$\|T_{\theta}u\|_{[X_2,Y_2]_{\theta}} \leq 1^{1-\theta} [V]_{\alpha}^{\theta} \|u\|_{[X_1,Y_1]_{\theta}}$$

ľ

for any  $0 \le \theta \le 1$ . Setting  $\theta = \frac{\beta - 1}{\alpha - 1}$  in (3.7) then gives

$$\left\| |V|^{\frac{\beta}{2}} u \right\| \le [V]^{\left(\frac{\beta-1}{\alpha-1}\right)}_{\alpha} \left( \frac{1}{M} \|u\| + \left\| (-\Delta + |V|)^{\frac{\beta}{2}} u \right\| \right).$$

Let  $M \to \infty$  to obtain

$$\left\| |V|^{\frac{\beta}{2}} u \right\| \le [V]^{\left(\frac{\beta-1}{\alpha-1}\right)}_{\alpha} \left\| \left(-\Delta + |V|\right)^{\frac{\beta}{2}} u \right\|.$$

A similar interpolation argument can be applied to obtain the bound

$$\left\| \left( -\Delta \right)^{\frac{\beta}{2}} u \right\| \le \left[ V \right]^{\left(\frac{\beta-1}{\alpha-1}\right)}_{\alpha} \left\| \left( -\Delta + |V| \right)^{\frac{\beta}{2}} u \right\|$$

for any  $u \in D(-\Delta + |V|)$ . It proceeds identically but it should be noted that the boundedness of the imaginary powers of  $(-\Delta)$  must be used when evaluating the endpoints of the interpolation argument. It is now possible to get rid of the dependence of (3.1) on the constant  $[V]_{\alpha}$ . Since  $V \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$ , it follows from the previous lemma that  $[V]_{\beta} < \infty$  for all  $\beta \in [1, \alpha]$ . This implies that (3.1) is valid for all  $\beta \in [1, \alpha]$ ,

(3.8) $\left( C_V \left( 1 + [V]_{\beta}^2 \right) \right)^{-1} \left( \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| + \|\nabla u\| \right) \le \left\| \sqrt{\mathcal{L} + V} u \right\| \le C_V \left( 1 + [V]_{\beta}^2 \right) \left( \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| + \|\nabla u\| \right).$ 

Moreover, the previous lemma also allows us to deduce that

$$\lim_{\beta \to 1^+} [V]_{\beta} \le 2.$$

Sending  $\beta \to 1^+$  in (3.8) leads to

(3.9) 
$$C_V^{-1}\left( \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| + \|\nabla u\| \right) \le \left\| \sqrt{\mathcal{L} + V} u \right\| \le C_V \left( \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| + \|\nabla u\| \right).$$

In order to conclude our proof of Theorem 1.1 for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  we have to extend (3.9) to all sectorial  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . This will be achieved by an approximation argument. In order to do so, we need to approximate in the strong resolvent sense  $\mathcal{L} + V$  by a sequence  $\mathcal{L} + V_n$  with  $V_n \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  and apply (3.9). We shall borrow some ideas from [23].

Let  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with angle of sectoriality  $\omega_V \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ . For each  $m, n \in \parallel^*$  with  $m \leq n$  set

$$V_{n,m} := (\operatorname{Re} V) \,\mathbb{1}_{|V| \le n} + i \left(\operatorname{Im} V\right)^+ \mathbb{1}_{|V| \le n} - i \left(\operatorname{Im} V\right)^- \mathbb{1}_{|V| \le m}$$

It is clear that for  $m \leq n$  the potential  $V_{n,m} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  will have angle of sectoriality at most  $\omega_V$ . Obviously, for each  $\epsilon > 0$  we have  $V_{n,m} + \epsilon \in \mathcal{W}_2$  and so (3.9) implies

$$(3.10) \quad C_{V}^{-1}\left(\left\||V_{n,m}|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\| + \|\nabla u\|\right) \leq \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon}u\right\| \leq C_{V}\left(\left\||V_{n,m} + \epsilon|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\| + \|\nabla u\|\right).$$

In particular, the operators  $|V_{n,m}|^{\frac{1}{2}} (\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\nabla (\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  are uniformly  $L^2$ -bounded in n, m and  $\epsilon$  for  $m \leq n$ . Our aim is to take the limit as  $n \to \infty$  and  $m \to \infty$ . We deal with  $\nabla (\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . The arguments are similar for  $|V_{n,m}|^{\frac{1}{2}} (\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . For a given  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the sequence  $((\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon)^{-\frac{1}{2}} f)_n$  is bounded in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Hence, after extraction of a subsequence, we may assume that this sequence converges weakly in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  as  $n \to \infty$ . We prove that  $(\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon)_n$  converges to  $(\mathcal{L} + V_m + \epsilon)$ in the strong resolvent sense. Here

$$V_m := \operatorname{Re} V + i \left( \operatorname{Im} V \right)^+ - i \left( \operatorname{Im} V \right)^- \mathbb{1}_{|V| \le m}.$$

Once this is proved we obtain

$$\left\|\nabla\left(\mathcal{L}+V_m+\epsilon\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}f\right\| \leq \liminf_n \left\|\nabla\left(\mathcal{L}+V_{n,m}+\epsilon\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}f\right\|$$

which will imply that  $\left(\nabla \left(\mathcal{L} + V_m + \epsilon\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_m$  is uniformly  $L^2$ -bounded in m and  $\epsilon$ . We then repeat the same argument by letting  $m \to \infty$  and obtain

(3.11) 
$$\left(\left\|\left|V\right|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\| + \left\|\nabla u\right\|\right) \le C_V \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L} + V + \epsilon}u\right\|.$$

We let  $\epsilon \to 0$  and obtain the first estimate in Theorem 1.1. The second estimate is the obtained from the first one by a well known duality argument as follows

$$\begin{split} \left\| \sqrt{\mathcal{L} + V} u \right\| &= \sup \left\{ \left| \langle (\mathcal{L} + V) u, v \rangle \right|, \left\| \sqrt{(\mathcal{L} + V)^*} v \right\| \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup \left\{ \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} A \nabla u \overline{\nabla v} + V u \overline{v} \right|, \left\| \sqrt{(\mathcal{L} + V)^*} v \right\| \le 1 \right\} \\ &\lesssim \sup \left\{ \| \nabla u \| \| \nabla v \| + \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} v \right\|, \left\| \sqrt{(\mathcal{L} + V)^*} v \right\| \le 1 \right\} \\ &\lesssim \sup \left\{ \left[ \| \nabla u \| + \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| \right] \left[ \| \nabla v \| + \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} v \right\| \right], \left\| \sqrt{(\mathcal{L} + V)^*} v \right\| \le 1 \right\} \\ &\lesssim \| \nabla u \| + \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\|, \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality we use the lower estimate (we just proved) of Theorem 1.1 for the adjoint operator  $(\mathcal{L} + V)^*$ .

Our final task is to prove the above claims on the convergence in the strong resolvent sense. Recall that any sesquilinear form  $\mathfrak{E}$  on a complex Hilbert space can be written as

$$(3.12) \mathfrak{E} = \mathfrak{b} + i\mathfrak{c}$$

where  $\mathfrak{b} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathfrak{E} + \mathfrak{E}^*)$  (called the real part of  $\mathfrak{E}$ ) and  $\mathfrak{c} = \frac{1}{2i}(\mathfrak{E} - \mathfrak{E}^*)$  (the imaginary part). We apply this decomposition to the sequilinear forms  $\mathfrak{a}^V$  and  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon}$  (for  $m \leq n$ )

$$\mathfrak{a}^{V+\epsilon} = \mathfrak{b} + i\mathfrak{c}$$
 and  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon} = \mathfrak{b}^{n,m} + i\mathfrak{c}^{n,m}$ .

We introduce the forms

$$\mathfrak{a}^{V+\epsilon}(z) = \mathfrak{b} + z\mathfrak{c}$$
 and  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon}(z) = \mathfrak{b}^{n,m} + z\mathfrak{c}^{n,m}$ 

for  $z \in St_{\delta} := \{z \in \mathbb{C}, |\operatorname{Im}(z)| < \delta\}$ . The sectoriality of  $V_{n,m} + \epsilon$  implies that for  $\delta > 0$ small enough, each form  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon}(z)$  and  $\mathfrak{a}^{V+\epsilon}(z)$  is sectorial for every  $z \in St_{\delta}$ . On the other hand, these forms are of type (a) in the sense of [19, p. 393] and hence the corresponding resolvents are holomorphic in the strip  $St_{\delta}$  and uniformly  $L^2$ -bounded. Observe that for  $z \in [0, \delta)$  the forms  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon}(z)$  are symmetric and the sequence is increasing in the sense that

$$\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon}(z)(u,u) \le \mathfrak{a}^{V_{n+1,m}+\epsilon}(z)(u,u).$$

When  $n \to \infty$ ,  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon}(z)(u, u)$  converges to the form  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_m+\epsilon}(z)(u, u)$ . The monotone convergence theorem for non-decreasing forms [19, p. 461] implies the convergence in the strong resolvent sense of  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_{n,m}+\epsilon}(z)$  to  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_m+\epsilon}(z)$  as  $n \to \infty$  for all  $z \in [0, \delta)$ . We conclude by Vitali's theorem (see [16, Thm. 3.14.1] or [2, p. 458]) that the strong convergence holds for all z in the strip and in particular for z = i. This proves the strong convergence in the resolvent sense of  $\mathcal{L} + V_{n,m} + \epsilon$  to  $\mathcal{L} + V_m + \epsilon$ . We repeat the same argument either by taking  $z \in (-\delta, 0]$  and use convergence of non-decreasing symmetric forms as above or  $z \in [0, \delta)$  and then use convergence of non-increasing symmetric forms. This concludes our proof of Theorem 1.1 for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ .

#### 4. Square Function Estimates

In this section a proof of Theorem 3.6 will be provided. The first part of the proof consists in showing that the operators  $P_t^V$  can effectively be diagonalised when estimating square function norms from above.

Throughout this section we assume that V is sectorial and belongs to  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ . Recall that  $\leq$  means that the implicit constant depends on V only through its angle of sectoriality  $\omega_V$  and is independent of  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ .

4.1. **Diagonalisation of the**  $P_t^V$  **Operators.** Define, for t > 0, the bounded operator  $\mathcal{P}_t^V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  through

$$\mathcal{P}_{t}^{V} := \begin{pmatrix} \left(I + t^{2} \left(-\Delta + |V|\right)\right)^{-1} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \left(I + t^{2} |V|\right)^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \left(I - t^{2} \nabla \operatorname{div}\right)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

Observe that since the operators  $(-\Delta + |V|)$ , |V| and  $(-\nabla \operatorname{div})$  are all self-adjoint, it follows from Proposition 2.7 that square function estimates hold for each of these operators with constant bounded by 1. Therefore each of these operators possess a bounded holomorphic functional calculus with constant bounded by 1 and thus the operators  $\mathcal{P}_t^V$  are uniformly  $L^2$ -bounded by 1. The following theorem will be proved.

**Theorem 4.1.** The estimate

(4.1) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \left( \mathcal{P}_t^V - P_t^V \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left( 1 + \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \right) \|u\|^2$$

holds for all  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$ .

Such a diagonalisation will aid us tremendously in bounding our main square function estimate (3.3). This theorem will be proved by inspecting each component separately.

**Remark 4.2.** It is easy to see that the diagonalisation estimate (4.1) is trivially satisfied on the first component for any  $u \in \mathcal{H}$  since  $\mathbb{P}_1 \mathcal{P}_t^V = \mathbb{P}_1 P_t^V$ .

**Proposition 4.3.** For any  $u \in \mathcal{H}$ ,

(4.2) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \mathcal{P}_t^V \left( P_t^V - I \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \|u\|^2.$$

*Proof.* The estimate is trivially satisfied on  $N(\Pi_V)$  since  $(P_t^V - I) u = 0$  for any  $u \in N(\Pi_V)$ and t > 0. Suppose that  $u \in \overline{R(\Pi_V)}$ . Using a Schur argument identical to Proposition 5.7 of [5], the proof of (4.2) for  $u \in \overline{R(\Pi_V)}$  can be reduced to the statement

(4.3) 
$$\left\| \mathcal{P}_t^V \left( P_t^V - I \right) Q_s^V \right\| \lesssim \min\left\{ \frac{t}{s}, \frac{s}{t} \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad t, s > 0.$$

First assume that  $t \leq s$ . On noting that  $\left(P_t^V - I\right)Q_s^V = \frac{t}{s}Q_t^V\left(P_s^V - I\right)$  we obtain

(4.4) 
$$\left\| \mathcal{P}_{t}^{V}\left(P_{t}^{V}-I\right)Q_{s}^{V}\right\| \leq \left\| \left(P_{t}^{V}-I\right)Q_{s}^{V}\right\| = \frac{t}{s}\left\| Q_{t}^{V}\left(P_{s}^{V}-I\right)\right\| \lesssim \frac{t}{s}.$$

Next, suppose that t > s. Then the equality  $P_t^V Q_s^V = \frac{s}{t} Q_t^V P_s^V$  gives

$$\left\|\mathcal{P}_{t}^{V}\left(P_{t}^{V}-I\right)Q_{s}^{V}\right\|\leq\left\|P_{t}^{V}Q_{s}^{V}\right\|+\left\|\mathcal{P}_{t}^{V}Q_{s}^{V}\right\|\lesssim\frac{s}{t}+\left\|\mathcal{P}_{t}^{V}Q_{s}^{V}\right\|.$$

The term  $\mathcal{P}_t^V Q_s^V$  will be considered component-wise. For the first component, recall that  $\mathbb{P}_1 \mathcal{P}_t^V = \mathbb{P}_1 P_t^V$  and observe

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{1} \mathcal{P}_{t}^{V} Q_{s}^{V} \right\| &= \left\| \mathbb{P}_{1} P_{t}^{V} s \Pi_{V} P_{s}^{V} \right\| \\ &= \frac{s}{t} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{1} P_{t}^{V} t \Pi_{V} P_{s}^{V} \right\| \\ &= \frac{s}{t} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{1} Q_{t}^{V} P_{s}^{V} \right\| \\ &\lesssim \frac{s}{t}. \end{split}$$

For the second component, note that

$$\mathbb{P}_2 \mathcal{P}_t^V = \left( I + t^2 \left| V \right| \right)^{-1} \mathbb{P}_2 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{P}_2 \Pi_V = \left| V \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbb{P}_1.$$

This gives

$$\left\|\mathbb{P}_{2}\mathcal{P}_{t}^{V}Q_{s}^{V}\right\| = s\left\|\left(I+t^{2}\left|V\right|\right)^{-1}\left|V\right|^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathbb{P}_{1}P_{s}^{V}\right\|$$
$$\lesssim \frac{s}{t}.$$

Lastly, for the third component, we have

$$\mathbb{P}_3 \mathcal{P}_t^V = \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^0 = P_t^0 \mathbb{P}_3,$$

leading to

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{3} \mathcal{P}_{t}^{V} Q_{s}^{V} \right\| &= \left\| P_{t}^{0} \mathbb{P}_{3} s \Pi_{V} P_{s}^{V} \right\| \\ &= \left\| P_{t}^{0} \mathbb{P}_{3} s \Pi_{0} P_{s}^{V} \right\| \\ &= \frac{s}{t} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{3} P_{t}^{0} t \Pi_{0} P_{s}^{V} \right\| \\ &= \frac{s}{t} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{3} Q_{t}^{0} P_{s}^{V} \right\| \\ &\lesssim \frac{s}{t}. \end{split}$$

Putting everything together gives (4.3).

Proposition 4.4. The estimate

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \mathbb{P}_2\left( I - \mathcal{P}_t^V \right) P_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \leq \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \left\| u \right\|^2$$

holds for any  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$ .

*Proof.* Observe that

$$\left\|\mathbb{P}_{2}\left(I-\mathcal{P}_{t}^{V}\right)P_{t}^{V}u\right\| = \left\|t^{2}\left|V\right|\left(1+t^{2}\left|V\right|\right)^{-1}\mathbb{P}_{2}P_{t}^{V}u\right\|$$
$$\lesssim \left\|t^{\alpha-1}\left|V\right|^{\frac{\alpha-1}{2}}\mathbb{P}_{2}P_{t}^{V}u\right\|.$$

As  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$  and  $P_t^V$  commutes with  $\Gamma_V$  through Lemma 2.13, there must exist some  $v = (v_1, 0, 0) \in D(\Gamma_V)$  for which  $P_t^V u = \Gamma_V(v_1, 0, 0)$ . This then gives

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{2} \left( I - \mathcal{P}_{t}^{V} \right) P_{t}^{V} u \right\| &\lesssim \left\| t^{\alpha - 1} V^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} v_{1} \right\| \\ &\leq \left[ V \right]_{\alpha} \left\| t^{\alpha - 1} \left( -\Delta + |V| \right)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} v_{1} \right\| \\ &= \left[ V \right]_{\alpha} \left\| t^{\alpha - 1} \left| \Pi_{V} \right|^{\alpha} v \right\| \\ &\lesssim \left[ V \right]_{\alpha} \left\| t^{\alpha - 1} \left| \Pi_{V} \right|^{\alpha - 1} \Pi_{V} v \right\| \\ &= \left[ V \right]_{\alpha} \left\| t^{\alpha - 1} \left| \Pi_{V} \right|^{\alpha - 1} P_{t}^{V} u \right\|, \end{split}$$

where  $|\Pi_V| := \sqrt{\Pi_V^2}$  and in the fourth line we applied the bounded holomorphic functional calculus of the operator  $\Pi_V$ . Therefore

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \mathbb{P}_2\left( I - \mathcal{P}_t^V \right) P_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \int_0^\infty \left\| t^{\alpha - 1} \left| \Pi_V \right|^{\alpha - 1} P_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ \lesssim \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \left\| u \right\|^2,$$

where we used the fact that  $\Pi_V$  satisfies quadratic estimates and Remark 2.6 in the last line.

Proposition 4.5. The estimate

(4.5) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \mathbb{P}_3 \left( I - \mathcal{P}_t^V \right) P_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \| u \|^2$$

holds for all  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$ .

*Proof.* First note that the integrand of (4.5) can be re-written as

$$\mathbb{P}_3\left(I - \mathcal{P}_t^V\right)P_t^V u = \mathbb{P}_3\left(I - P_t^0\right)P_t^V u = \left(I - P_t^0\right)\mathbb{P}_3P_t^V u.$$

It then follows from the bounded holomorphic functional calculus of  $\Pi_0$  that

$$\left\| \left( I - P_t^0 \right) \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^V u \right\| \lesssim \left\| t^{\alpha - 1} \left| \Pi_0 \right|^{\alpha - 1} \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^V u \right\| = \left\| \mathbb{P}_3 t^{\alpha - 1} \left| \Pi_0 \right|^{\alpha - 1} P_t^V u \right\|.$$

On recalling that  $u = \Gamma_V v$  for some  $v = (v_1, 0, 0) \in D(\Gamma_V)$  and that  $\Gamma_V$  commutes with  $P_t^V$ ,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{3} t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{0} \right|^{\alpha-1} P_{t}^{V} u \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{3} t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{0} \right|^{\alpha-1} \Gamma_{V} P_{t}^{V} v \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{3} t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{0} \right|^{\alpha-1} \Pi_{0} P_{t}^{V} v \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t}.$$

On exploiting the bounded holomorphic functional calculus of the operator  $\Pi_0$  once more,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{3} t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{0} \right|^{\alpha-1} \Pi_{0} P_{t}^{V} v \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{0} \right|^{\alpha} P_{t}^{V} v \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t}$$

Observe that since  $P_t^V v$  is non-zero only in the first entry,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left| \Pi_{0} \right|^{\alpha} P_{t}^{V} v \right\| &= \left\| (-\Delta)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \mathbb{P}_{1} P_{t}^{V} v \right\| \\ &\leq [V]_{\alpha} \left\| (|V| - \Delta)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \mathbb{P}_{1} P_{t}^{V} v \right\| \\ &= [V]_{\alpha} \left\| \left| \Pi_{V} \right|^{\alpha} P_{t}^{V} v \right\|. \end{split}$$

The bounded holomorphic functional calculus of the operator  $\Pi_V$  then leads to

$$\begin{split} [V]_{\alpha}^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{V} \right|^{\alpha} P_{t}^{V} v \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} &\leq \left[ V \right]_{\alpha}^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{V} \right|^{\alpha-1} \Pi_{V} P_{t}^{V} v \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \left[ V \right]_{\alpha}^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| t^{\alpha-1} \left| \Pi_{V} \right|^{\alpha-1} P_{t}^{V} u \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\leq \left[ V \right]_{\alpha}^{2} \left\| u \right\|^{2}, \end{split}$$

where we used the fact that  $\Pi_V$  satisfies quadratic estimates in the final line.

Proof of Theorem 4.1. We combine Propositions 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 together and note that  $\mathbb{P}_1 P_t^V u = 0$  for  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$  to obtain Theorem 4.1.

Continuing with the proof of Theorem 3.6, split our main square function into components

$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \sum_{i=1,2,3} \int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_i P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}.$$

Notice that the first component vanishes since  $\mathbb{P}_1 P_t^V u = 0$  for  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$ . For the second component, the triangle inequality gives

$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_2 P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_2\left(\mathcal{P}_t^V - P_t^V\right) u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} + \int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_2 \mathcal{P}_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}.$$

The uniform  $L^2$ -boundedness of the operators  $\Theta_t^{V,B}$  together with Theorem 4.1 give

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_2 \left( \mathcal{P}_t^V - P_t^V \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left( 1 + \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \right) \| u \|^2$$

For the second term, observe that  $\mathbb{P}_2 \mathcal{P}_t^V u \in D(\Gamma_{V,B}^*)$ . Lemma 2.13 together with the uniform  $L^2$  boundedness of the operators  $P_t^{V,B}$  gives

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty \left\| \Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_2 \mathcal{P}_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} &= \int_0^\infty \left\| P_t^{V,B} t \Gamma_{V,B}^* \mathbb{P}_2 \mathcal{P}_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| t \Gamma_{V,B}^* \mathbb{P}_2 \mathcal{P}_t^V u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \int_0^\infty \left\| t \left| V \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{i \arg V} \left( 1 + t^2 \left| V \right| \right)^{-1} \mathbb{P}_2 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\lesssim \| u \|^2 \,, \end{split}$$

where the last line follows from the fact that the multiplication operator  $|V|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  is self-adjoint and therefore satisfies square function esimates with constant independent of V and  $\alpha$  by Proposition 2.7. This reduces our theorem to proving boundedness of the third component.

4.2. The Third Component. This section is dedicated to bounding the third component of our square function norm thus completing the proof of Theorem 3.6. Specifically, it will be proved that

(4.6) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left(1 + \left[V\right]_\alpha^2\right) \|u\|^2$$

holds for any  $u \in R(\Gamma_V)$ . A similar argument to that of [5] will be used but one will need to keep track of the effect of the projection  $\mathbb{P}_3$  and the dependence of the constants on Vand  $\alpha$ .

4.2.1. T(1)-Reduction. Our first step towards a T(1)-reduction is to use the splitting

$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3 \left(P_t^V - \mathcal{P}_t^V\right) u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} + \int_0^\infty \left\|\Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3 \mathcal{P}_t^V u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}$$

The uniform  $L^2$ -boundedness of the operators  $\Theta_t^{V,B}$  and Theorem 4.1 can be applied to the first term to obtain

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3 \left( \mathcal{P}_t^V - P_t^V \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left( 1 + \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \right) \| u \|^2.$$

On recalling that  $\mathbb{P}_3 \mathcal{P}_t^V = \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^0$ , this reduces the task of proving our square function estimate to obtaining the bound

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left( 1 + \left[ V \right]_\alpha^2 \right) \| u \|^2 \,.$$

Introduce the notation  $\tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B}$  to denote the operators  $\tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} := \Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3$ . Let  $\gamma_t^{V,B}$  and  $\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}$  denote the principal parts of the operators  $\Theta_t^{V,B}$  and  $\tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B}$  respectively. That is, they are the multiplication operators defined through

$$\gamma_t^{V,B}(x)w := \Theta_t^{V,B}(w)(x) \quad and \quad \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x)(w) := \left(\Theta_t^{V,B}\mathbb{P}_3\right)(w)(x),$$

for  $w \in \mathbb{C}^{d+2}$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Evidently we must have  $\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x)w = \gamma_t^{V,B}(x)\mathbb{P}_3w$ .

Our square function norm can be reduced to this principal part by applying the splitting

(4.7) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\|\tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} P_t^0 u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| \left(\tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t\right) P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} + \int_0^\infty \left\|\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t P_t^0 u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}$$

Since the operator  $\Theta_t^{V,B}$  satisfies the conditions of Proposition 2.21, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty \left\| \left( \tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t \right) P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} &= \int_0^\infty \left\| \left( \Theta_t^{V,B} - \gamma_t^{V,B} A_t \right) \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| t \nabla \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| t \Pi_0 P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left\| u \right\|^2, \end{split}$$

where the estimate  $\|\nabla \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^0 u\| \leq \|\Pi_0 P_t^0 u\|$  follows from (H8) for the operator  $\Gamma_0$ . It should be noted that in order to use (H8) we had to use the fact that  $u = \Gamma_V v$  for some  $v \in D(\Gamma_V)$ and therefore

$$\mathbb{P}_{3}P_{t}^{0}u = P_{t}^{0}\mathbb{P}_{3}\Gamma_{V}v = P_{t}^{0}\mathbb{P}_{3}\Gamma_{0}v = \Gamma_{0}P_{t}^{0}v \in R\left(\Gamma_{0}\right).$$

Our theorem has thus been reduced to a proof of the following square function estimate

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le \left( 1 + [V]_\alpha^2 \right) \| u \|^2.$$

The triangle inequality leads to

(4.8) 
$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t P_t^0 u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t \left( P_t^0 - I \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} + \int_0^\infty \left\| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}.$$

Proposition 2.20 states that the uniform estimate  $\|\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}A_t\| \leq 1$  is true for all t > 0. Furthermore, notice that  $A_t^2 = A_t$  and  $\mathbb{P}_3A_t = A_t\mathbb{P}_3$  for all t > 0. These facts combine together to produce

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t \left( P_t^0 - I \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} = \int_0^\infty \left\| \gamma_t^{V,B} A_t \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^0 - I \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}$$
$$\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^0 - I \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}.$$

According to the argument from Proposition 5.7 of [5], this final term can be bounded by

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| A_t \left( P_t^0 - I \right) u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \|u\|^2 \,,$$

since  $\{\Gamma_0, B_1, B_2\}$  by hypothesis satisfies (H1) - (H8).

Recall the definition of the Carleson norm for a measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^{d+1}_+ := \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \infty)$ ,

$$\|\nu\|_{\mathcal{C}} := \sup_{Q \in \Box} \frac{\nu(R_Q)}{|Q|},$$

where  $R_Q := Q \times [0, l(Q))$ . For the second term in (4.8), apply Carleson's theorem ([26, p. 59]) to obtain

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B} A_t u \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left\| \mu_{V,B} \right\|_{\mathcal{C}} \left\| u \right\|^2,$$

where  $\mu_{V,B}$  is the measure on  $\mathbb{R}^{d+1}_+$  defined through

$$d\mu_{V,B}(x,t) := \left|\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x)\right|^2 \frac{dx\,dt}{t}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ t > 0$$

The proof of Theorem 3.6 has thus been reduced to showing that the measure  $\mu_{V,B}$  is a Carleson measure with constant smaller than a multiple of  $(1 + [V]_{\alpha}^2)$ .

4.2.2. Carleson Measure Estimate. Our goal now is to prove the following Carleson measure estimate,

(4.9) 
$$\sup_{Q \in \Box} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_0^{l(Q)} \int_Q \left| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \lesssim \left( 1 + [V]_{\alpha}^2 \right) < \infty.$$

Let  $\mathcal{L}_3$  denote the subspace

(4.10) 
$$\mathcal{L}_3 := \left\{ \nu \in \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{C}^{d+2}\right) \setminus \{0\} : \nu \mathbb{P}_3 = \nu \right\}.$$

By construction, we have  $\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) \in \mathcal{L}_3$  for any t > 0 and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  since

(4.11)  

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x)\mathbb{P}_{3}w = \left(\Theta_{t}^{V,B}\mathbb{P}_{3}\right)\left(\mathbb{P}_{3}w\right)(x)$$

$$= \left(\Theta_{t}^{V,B}\mathbb{P}_{3}\right)(w)(x)$$

$$= \tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x)(w).$$

Let  $\sigma > 0$  be a constant to be determined at a later time. Let  $\mathcal{V}$  be a finite set consisting of  $\nu \in \mathcal{L}_3$  with  $|\nu| = 1$  such that  $\bigcup_{\nu \in \mathcal{V}} K_{\nu} = \mathcal{L}_3 \setminus \{0\}$ , where

$$K_{\nu} := \left\{ \nu' \in \mathcal{L}_3 \setminus \{0\} : \left| \frac{\nu'}{|\nu'|} - \nu \right| \le \sigma \right\}.$$

Then, in order to prove our Carleson measure estimate (4.9), it is sufficient to fix  $\nu \in \mathcal{V}$ and prove that

(4.12) 
$$\sup_{Q \in \Box} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int \int_{\substack{(x,t) \in R_Q \\ \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) \in K_\nu}} \left| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \leq 1 + [V]_{\alpha}^2 < \infty.$$

The John-Nirenberg lemma for Carleson measures, as applied in [5] and [3], can then be used to reduce the proof of our theorem to the following proposition.

**Proposition 4.6.** There exists  $\beta > 0$  and  $\sigma > 0$  that will satisfy the following conditions. For every  $\nu \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $Q \in \Box$ , there is a collection  $\{Q_k\}_k \subset \Box$  of disjoint subcubes of Q such that  $E_{Q,\nu} = Q \setminus \bigcup_k Q_k$  satisfies  $|E_{Q,\nu}| > \beta |Q|$  and such that

(4.13) 
$$\sup_{Q \in \Box} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int \int_{\substack{(x,t) \in E_{Q,\nu} \\ \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) \in K_\nu}} \left| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \leq 1 + \left[ V \right]_{\alpha}^2 < \infty,$$

where  $E_{Q,\nu}^* := R_Q \setminus \bigcup_k R_{Q_k}$ . Moreover,  $\beta$  and  $\sigma$  are independent of  $\alpha$  and dependent on V only through  $\omega_V$ .

For now, fix  $\nu \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $Q \in \Box$ . Let  $w^{\nu}$ ,  $\hat{w}^{\nu} \in \mathbb{C}^{d+2}$  with  $|\hat{w}^{\nu}| = |w^{\nu}| = 1$  and  $\nu^{*}(\hat{w}^{\nu}) = w^{\nu}$ . To simplify notation, when superfluous, this dependence will be kept implicit by defining  $w := w^{\nu}$  and  $\hat{w} := \hat{w}^{\nu}$ . Notice that since  $\nu$  satisfies  $\nu = \nu \mathbb{P}_{3}$ , w must satisfy  $\mathbb{P}_{3}w = w$ .

For  $\epsilon > 0$  the function  $f_{Q,\epsilon}^w$  can be defined in an identical manner to [5]. Specifically, let  $\eta_Q : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0,1]$  be a smooth cutoff function equal to 1 on 2Q, with support in 4Q and with  $\|\nabla \eta_Q\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{l}$ , where l := l(Q). Then define  $w_Q := \eta_Q w$  and

$$f_{Q,\epsilon}^{w} := w_Q - \epsilon li \Gamma_V \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_Q = \left( I + \epsilon li \Gamma_{V,B}^* \right) \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_Q$$

**Lemma 4.7.** There exists a constant C > 0 that satisfies  $\left\| f_{Q,\epsilon}^w \right\| \le C |Q|^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ,

(4.14) 
$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} f_{Q,\epsilon}^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \le C \frac{|Q|}{\epsilon^2}, \text{ and}$$

(4.15) 
$$\left| \oint_{Q} \mathbb{P}_{3} f_{Q,\epsilon}^{w} - w \right| \leq C \,\epsilon^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

for any  $\epsilon > 0$ . Moreover, C is independent of Q,  $\nu$ ,  $\epsilon$  and  $\alpha$  and is dependent on V only through  $\omega_V$ .

*Proof.* The first two parts of this lemma follow in an identical manner to [5, Lem. 5.10]. For the third part, recall that w is zero in the first two components. This gives

$$\left| \oint_{Q} \mathbb{P}_{3} f_{Q,\epsilon}^{w} - w \right|^{2} = \left| \oint_{Q} \mathbb{P}_{3} \epsilon li \Gamma_{V} \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_{Q} \right|^{2}$$
$$= \left| \oint_{Q} \epsilon li \Gamma_{0} \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_{Q} \right|^{2}.$$

At this point, apply Lemma 5.6 of [5] to the operator  $\Upsilon = \Gamma_0$  to obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \oint_{Q} \epsilon li \Gamma_{0} \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_{Q} \right|^{2} &\lesssim \frac{(\epsilon l)^{2}}{l} \left( \oint_{Q} \left| \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_{Q} \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \cdot \left( \oint_{Q} \left| \Gamma_{0} \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_{Q} \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \epsilon \left( \oint_{Q} \left| \epsilon li \Gamma_{0} \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_{Q} \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \leq \epsilon \left( \oint_{Q} \left| \epsilon li \Gamma_{V} \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_{Q} \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \epsilon, \end{split}$$

where the inequality  $\|\Gamma_0 v\| \leq \|\Gamma_V v\|$  for  $v \in D(\Gamma_V)$  follows trivially from the matrix form of  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_V$ .

From this point forward, with C as in Lemma 4.7, set  $\epsilon := \frac{1}{4C^2}$  and introduce the notation  $f_Q^w := f_{Q,\epsilon}^w$ . With this choice of  $\epsilon$  it must be true that

$$\left| \oint_Q \mathbb{P}_3 f_Q^w - w \right| \le \frac{1}{2}.$$

That is,

$$1 - 2\operatorname{Re}\left\langle \oint_{Q} \mathbb{P}_{3}f_{Q}^{w}, w \right\rangle = |w|^{2} - 2\operatorname{Re}\left\langle \oint_{Q} \mathbb{P}_{3}f_{Q}^{w}, w \right\rangle$$
$$\leq \left| \oint_{Q} \mathbb{P}_{3}f_{Q}^{w} - w \right|^{2}$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{4}.$$

On rearranging we find that

(4.16) 
$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle \oint_{Q} \mathbb{P}_{3} f_{Q}^{w}, w \right\rangle \geq \frac{1}{4}.$$

In this context, Lemma 5.11 of [5] will take on the below form.

**Lemma 4.8.** There exists  $\beta$ ,  $c_1$ ,  $c_2 > 0$  and a collection  $\{Q_k\}$  of dyadic subcubes of Q such that  $|E_{Q,\nu}| > \beta |Q|$  and such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle w, \oint_{Q'} \mathbb{P}_3 f_Q^w \right\rangle \ge c_1 \quad and \quad \oint_{Q'} \left| \mathbb{P}_3 f_Q^w \right| \le c_2$$

for all dyadic subcubes  $Q' \in \Box$  of Q which satisfy  $R_{Q'} \cap E^*_{Q,\nu} \neq \emptyset$ . Moreover,  $\beta$ ,  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  are independent of Q,  $\sigma$ ,  $\nu$  and  $\alpha$  and dependent on V only through  $\omega_V$ .

The proof of this statement follows in an identical manner to the argument in [5]. If we set  $\sigma = \frac{c_1}{2c_2}$ , then the following pointwise estimate can be deduced.

**Lemma 4.9.** If  $(x,t) \in E^*_{Q,\nu}$  and  $\tilde{\gamma}^{V,B}_t(x) \in K_{\nu}$  then

(4.17) 
$$\left|\tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x)\left(A_{t}f_{Q}^{w}(x)\right)\right| \geq \frac{1}{2}c_{1}\left|\tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x)\right|$$

*Proof.* First observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \nu \left( A_t f_Q^w(x) \right) \right| &\geq \operatorname{Re} \left\langle \hat{w}, \nu \left( A_t f_Q^w(x) \right) \right\rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \left\langle w, A_t f_Q^w(x) \right\rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \left\langle w, A_t \mathbb{P}_3 f_Q^w(x) \right\rangle \\ &\geq c_1. \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x)}{\left| \tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x) \right|} \left( A_{t} f_{Q}^{w}(x) \right) \right| &= \left| \frac{\tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x)}{\left| \tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x) \right|} \left( A_{t} \mathbb{P}_{3} f_{Q}^{w}(x) \right) \right| \\ &\geq \left| \nu \left( A_{t} f_{Q}^{w}(x) \right) \right| - \left| \frac{\tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x)}{\left| \tilde{\gamma}_{t}^{V,B}(x) \right|} - \nu \right| \left| A_{t} \mathbb{P}_{3} f_{Q}^{w}(x) \right| \\ &\geq c_{1} - \sigma c_{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} c_{1}. \end{aligned}$$

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 4.6. From the pointwise bound of the previous lemma,

$$\int \int_{\substack{(x,t)\in E_{Q,\nu}\\\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x)\in K_\nu}} \left|\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x)\right|^2 \frac{dx\,dt}{t} \lesssim \int \int_{R_Q} \left|\tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x)A_t f_Q^w(x)\right|^2 \frac{dx\,dt}{t}.$$

At this stage we can begin to unravel our square function norm,

(4.18) 
$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t f_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \lesssim \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} f_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t f_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} + \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} f_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}.$$

The second part of Lemma 4.7 states that the final term in the above estimate will be bounded from above by a multiple of |Q|. This reduces the task of proving the proposition to bounding the first term of the above splitting. Recall that  $f_Q^w$  can be expressed in the form

$$f_Q^w := w_Q - u_Q^w,$$

where  $u_Q^w \in R(\Gamma_V)$  is given by

$$u_Q^w := \epsilon li \Gamma_V \left( I + \epsilon li \Pi_{V,B} \right)^{-1} w_Q.$$

An application of the triangle inequality then leads to

(4.19)  
$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} f_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t f_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$
$$\lesssim \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} w_Q(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t w_Q(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$
$$+ \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} u_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$

On noticing that for every  $x \in Q$  and 0 < t < l(Q)

$$\Theta_t^{V,B} w_Q(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t w_Q(x) = \Theta_t^{V,B} w_Q(x) - \Theta_t^{V,B} \left( A_t w_Q(x) \right)(x)$$
$$= \Theta_t^{V,B} \left( \left( \eta_Q - 1 \right) w \right)(x),$$

it is clear that the first term in (4.19) can be handled in an identical manner as in the proof of Proposition 5.9 from [5]. Specifically, since  $(\sup (\eta_Q - 1) w) \cap 2Q = \emptyset$ , the off-diagonal estimates of the operator  $\Theta_t^{V,B}$  lead to

$$\int_{Q} \left| \Theta_{t}^{V,B} \left( \left( \eta_{Q} - 1 \right) w \right) (x) \right|^{2} dx \leq \frac{t \left| Q \right|}{l},$$

which implies that

$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} w_Q(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t w_Q(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \leq |Q| \, .$$

As for the second term in (4.19),

(4.20)  
$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} u_Q^w - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$
$$\lesssim \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} \left( I - P_t^V \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$
$$+ \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} P_t^V u_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}.$$

Since  $u_Q^w \in R(\Gamma_V)$ , Corollary 2.16 gives

$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} \left( I - P_t^V \right) u_Q^w \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \le \left\| u_Q^w \right\|^2 \\ \le |Q| \, .$$

For the remaining term in (4.20) we use the triangle inequality and the definition  $\tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} := \Theta_t^{V,B} \mathbb{P}_3$  to write

(4.21)  

$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} P_t^V u_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \\
\lesssim \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} \left( I - \mathbb{P}_3 \right) P_t^V u_Q^w \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \\
+ \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} P_t^V u_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}.$$

Since we have already proved the boundedness of the first and second components,

$$\begin{split} \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \Theta_t^{V,B} \left( I - \mathbb{P}_3 \right) P_t^V u_Q^w \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} &\lesssim \left( 1 + \left[ V \right]_{\alpha}^2 \right) \left\| u_Q^w \right\|^2 \\ &\lesssim \left( 1 + \left[ V \right]_{\alpha}^2 \right) \left| Q \right|. \end{split}$$

For the second term in (4.21),

(4.22) 
$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} P_t^V u_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$
$$\lesssim \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} P_t^V u_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t P_t^V u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$
$$+ \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \gamma_t^{V,B}(x) \mathbb{P}_3 \left( A_t P_t^V - A_t \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t},$$

where we have used (4.11). To bound the first term on the right-hand side of the above estimate notice that

$$\tilde{\Theta}_t^{V,B} P_t^V u_Q^w(x) - \tilde{\gamma}_t^{V,B}(x) A_t P_t^V u_Q^w(x) = \left(\Theta_t^{V,B} - \gamma_t^{V,B} A_t\right) \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^V u_Q^w(x).$$

Theorem 4.1 allows us to diagonalise our  $P_t^V$  operators in the first term of (4.22) to get

$$\int_{0}^{l(Q)} \left\| \left( \Theta_{t}^{V,B} - \gamma_{t}^{V,B} A_{t} \right) \mathbb{P}_{3} P_{t}^{V} u_{Q}^{w} \right\|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \left( 1 + [V]_{\alpha}^{2} \right) |Q| + \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \left( \Theta_{t}^{V,B} - \gamma_{t}^{V,B} A_{t} \right) \mathbb{P}_{3} \mathcal{P}_{t}^{V} u_{Q}^{w} \right\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t}.$$

From Proposition 2.21 we know that

$$\int_0^\infty \left\| \left( \Theta_t^{V,B} - \gamma_t^{V,B} A_t \right) \mathbb{P}_3 \mathcal{P}_t^V u_Q^w \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| t \nabla \mathbb{P}_3 \mathcal{P}_t^V u_Q^w \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \left\| t \nabla \mathbb{P}_3 \mathcal{P}_t^0 u_Q^w \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}$$
$$\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left\| t \Pi_0 \mathcal{P}_t^0 u_Q^w \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \left\| \mathcal{Q}_t^0 u_Q^w \right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}$$
$$\lesssim |Q|,$$

where in the third line we applied (H8) for the operators  $\{\Gamma_0, B_1, B_2\}$ . It remains to bound the second term in (4.22),

$$\int \int_{R_Q} \left| \gamma_t^{V,B}(x) \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^V - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} = \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \gamma_t^{V,B} A_t \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^V - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}$$

On noting the uniform  $L^2$ -boundedness of the  $\gamma_t^{V,B}A_t$  operators and applying the triangle inequality,

$$\begin{split} \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \gamma_t^{V,B} A_t \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^V - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} & \lesssim \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^V - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \\ & \lesssim \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^V - \mathcal{P}_t^V \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \\ & + \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( \mathcal{P}_t^V - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}. \end{split}$$

Applying Theorem 4.1 and recalling that  $\mathbb{P}_3 \mathcal{P}_t^V = \mathbb{P}_3 P_t^0$ ,

$$\begin{split} \int \int_{R_Q} \left| \gamma_t^{V,B} A_t \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^V - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} &\lesssim \left( 1 + \left[ V \right]_{\alpha}^2 \right) \| u \|^2 \\ &+ \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \mathbb{P}_3 A_t \left( P_t^0 - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}. \end{split}$$

From the proof of Proposition 5.7 of [5] we know that

$$\int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| A_t \left( P_t^0 - I \right) u_Q^w(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \leq |Q| \,,$$

allowing us to finally conclude our proof.

#### 5. Proof of Kato on Domains

In this section, we give the proof of the full statement of Theorem 1.1, the Kato square root property with potential on an arbitrary domain. Recall that  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} = -\text{div}A\nabla$  is an elliptic operator with bounded measurable and complex coefficients on  $L^2(\Omega)$  and subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions. Given  $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  with range contained in a sector  $S_{\omega_V+} \subset \mathbb{C}^+$  for some  $\omega_V \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ , recall that  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V$  is the maximal accretive operator defined via the sesquilinear form  $\mathfrak{a}^V_{\Omega}$  as in Section 2.1.

Proof of Theorem 1.1. First, we extend the coefficients  $a_{kl}$  to  $\mathbb{R}^d$  in such a way that the extension satisfies again the ellipticity condition (1.1) on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . One may take for example  $\delta_{kl}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega$ . For simplicity we denote this extension by  $a_{kl}$  as well. We extend V to all of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by setting it equal to zero on  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega$ . The extension will also be denoted by V. We define  $\mathcal{L} + V = -\operatorname{div} A \nabla + V$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We consider the sequence of operators

$$\mathcal{L}_k := \mathcal{L} + V_k := \mathcal{L} + V + \epsilon + k \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega}$$

Each  $\mathcal{L}_k$  is defined by the corresponding sesquilinear form  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_k}$ . We apply Theorem 1.1 for the already proved case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  to  $\mathcal{L}_k$  and find  $C_V > 0$  such that

(5.1) 
$$C_{V}^{-1}\left(\left\||V_{k}|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\| + \|\nabla u\|\right) \leq \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{k}}u\right\| \leq C_{V}\left(\left\||V_{k}|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\| + \|\nabla u\|\right).$$

The constant  $C_V$  depends on V only through  $\omega_V$  since  $V + k \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega}$  is sectorial with angle at most  $\omega_V$ . In particular,  $C_V$  is independent of k. Now the idea is to take the limit as  $k \to \infty$ . In order to do so, we argue similarly to the end of the proof of Theorem 1.1 for the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ . We consider first the case of domains with smooth boundary.

- Step 1: smooth domain. We assume that each connected component of  $\Omega$  has smooth boundary ( $C^1$  for example). It follows from (5.1) that the operators  $\nabla \mathcal{L}_k^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $|V|^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{L}_k^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ are uniformly  $L^2$ -bounded. We deal with  $\nabla \mathcal{L}_k^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  only since the arguments for  $|V|^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{L}_k^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  are similar. For  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ 

(5.2) 
$$\left\|\nabla \mathcal{L}_{k}^{-\frac{1}{2}}f\right\| \leq C_{V} \left\|f\right\|$$

On the other hand since

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle \mathcal{L}_{k}u,u\right\rangle \geq\epsilon\left\Vert u\right\Vert ^{2}$$

it follows that

$$\left\| \left( 1 + t^2 \mathcal{L}_k \right)^{-1} f \right\| \le \frac{t^{-2}}{t^{-2} + \epsilon} \left\| f \right\|$$

In particular, the sequence  $\left(\mathcal{L}_{k}^{-\frac{1}{2}}f\right)_{k}$  is  $L^{2}$ -bounded. This and (5.2) show that  $\left(\mathcal{L}_{k}^{-\frac{1}{2}}f\right)_{k}$  is bounded in  $H^{1}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)$ . Hence, after extracting a subsequence we may assume that  $\left(\mathcal{L}_{k}^{-\frac{1}{2}}f\right)_{k}$  converges weakly in  $H^{1}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)$  to some  $\Psi$ .

Let  $f \in L^2(\Omega)$  and set  $\tilde{f}$  to be the extension of f to  $\mathbb{R}^d$  obtained by setting it equal to zero outside of  $\Omega$ . We claim that:

the sequence  $\left(\mathcal{L}_{k}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{f}\right)_{k}$  converges in  $L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\right)$  (as  $k \to \infty$ ) to  $\left(\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}+V+\epsilon\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}f$  on  $\Omega$  and 0 outside  $\Omega$ .

Suppose for a moment that we have proved this claim. Then  $\Psi = (\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V + \epsilon)^{-\frac{1}{2}} f$  on  $\Omega$  and 0 outside  $\Omega$ . In addition, the above weak convergence implies

$$\left\|\nabla \left(\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V + \epsilon\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} f\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq \liminf \left\|\nabla \left(\mathcal{L}_{k}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{f}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{f}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}$$

Inserting (5.2) yields the following estimate on  $L^{2}(\Omega)$ 

(5.3) 
$$\left\|\nabla \left(\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V + \epsilon\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} f\right\| \leq C_V \|f\|$$

We let  $\epsilon \to 0$  and obtain

(5.4) 
$$\left\|\nabla \left(\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} f\right\| \le C_V \|f\|$$

This together with the same estimate for  $|V|^{\frac{1}{2}} (\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  imply the lower estimate in Theorem 1.1. The upper estimate follows by a duality argument as we did in the case of  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ .

It remains to prove the above claim. We apply the decomposition (3.12) to  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V+\epsilon}$  and  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_k+\epsilon}$  (and noting that the imaginary part of the latter form is independent of k)

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V+\epsilon} = \mathfrak{b} + i\mathfrak{c} \quad ext{and} \quad \mathfrak{a}^{V_k+\epsilon} = \mathfrak{b}_k + i\mathfrak{c}.$$

We introduce the forms

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V_k+\epsilon}(z):=\mathfrak{b}_k+z\mathfrak{c}$$

for z in the strip  $St'_{\delta} = \{z \in \mathbb{C}, |\operatorname{Re} z| < \delta\}$ . It follows from ellipticity that for  $\delta > 0$  small enough, the forms are closed (with domain  $H^{1,V}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ). These forms are a family of type (a) in the sense of [19, p. 393] and hence the corresponding resolvents are holomorphic in the strip. For  $z \in (-\delta, \delta)$  the forms  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_k + \epsilon}(z)$  are symmetric and the sequence is non-decreasing. When  $k \to \infty$ ,  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_k + \epsilon}(z)(u, u)$  converges to the form

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V+\epsilon}(z)(u,u)=\mathfrak{b}(u,u)+z\mathfrak{c}(u,u)$$

with domain

$$D(\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V_k+\epsilon}(z)) = \left\{ u \in H^{1,V}\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right), u = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega \right\}.$$

It is well known that for smooth  $\Omega$  (or star shaped) the set

$$\left\{ u \in H^1\left(\mathbb{R}^d\right), u = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega \right\}$$

coincides with  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . We apply the monotone convergence theorem for the symmetric forms (cf. [25, Thm. 4.1]) to obtain that the corresponding resolvents of  $\mathfrak{a}^{V_k+\epsilon}(z)$  converge strongly on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to the resolvent of the form  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V+\epsilon}(z)$ . We apply again Vitali's theorem to obtain this strong convergence when z = i. This proves the claim.

- Step 2: General domain. Let now  $\Omega$  be an arbitrary open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We take a sequence  $\Omega_n$  of smooth subdomains of  $\Omega$  such that  $\Omega_n \subset \Omega_{n+1}$  and  $\Omega = \bigcup_n \Omega_n$ . For each n, we have  $\mathcal{L}_n := \mathcal{L}_{\Omega_n} + V + \epsilon$  as an operator on  $L^2(\Omega_n)$ . We denote by  $\mathfrak{a}_n$  the corresponding

sesquilinear forms. We keep the notation  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V+\epsilon}$  for the sesquilinear form of  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V + \epsilon$ . For each *n*, the form  $\mathfrak{a}_n$  is seen as a form on  $L^2(\Omega)$  with (non-dense) domain  $H_0^{1,V}(\Omega_n)$ . By (5.3) we have

(5.5) 
$$\left\|\nabla \mathcal{L}_n^{-\frac{1}{2}} f\right\|_{L^2(\Omega_n)} \le C_V \|f\|_{L^2(\Omega_n)}.$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\Omega_n)$ . The same estimate holds for  $|V|^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{L}_n^{-\frac{1}{2}} f$ . We can then argue exactly as in Step 1. What remains to prove is the strong convergence of the resolvent sense of  $\mathfrak{a}_n$  to the resolvent of  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V+\epsilon}$ . For this, we decompose as above the forms  $\mathfrak{a}_n = \mathfrak{b}_n + i\mathfrak{c}_n$  and introduce  $\mathfrak{a}_n(z) = \mathfrak{b}_n + z\mathfrak{c}$  for z in a strip  $St'_{\delta}$  for  $\delta > 0$  and small enough. We observe that for real zin the strip, the symmetric forms  $\mathfrak{a}_n(z)$  satisfy  $\mathfrak{a}_{n+1} \leq \mathfrak{a}_n$  since  $H_0^1(\Omega_n) \subset H_0^1(\Omega_{n+1})$ . We apply the monotone convergence theorem for symmetric forms (see again [25, Thm. 4.1]) and obtain the strong convergence of the resolvents. We appeal again to Vitali's theorem as above.

**Remark 5.1.** Our Kato estimates on  $L^2$  extend to  $L^p$  in the following way. Suppose that the semigroup  $e^{-t(\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}+V)}$  is uniformly bounded on  $L^{p_0}$  for some  $p_0 \in [1,2)$ . Then for all  $p \in (p_0,2]$ 

$$\left(\left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|_{p}+\left\|\nabla u\right\|_{p}\right)\leq C\left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}+V}\,u\right\|_{p}.$$

together with a weak type  $(p_0, p_0)$  estimate for the end-point. In particular, if the coefficients  $a_{kl}$  are real-valued then this holds with  $p_0 = 1$ . The extension from  $L^2$  to  $L^p$  uses  $L^p - L^q$  off-diagonal estimates (or Gaussian estimates for real-valued coefficients). We refer to [3] or [24] and the references therein. We may also add terms of order one to the differential operator.

#### 6. Kato for Systems

In this section we describe how our proof for Kato with potential on an arbitrary domain carries over to systems. Once more, let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be an arbitrary domain. Fix  $m \geq 1$  and let  $A \in L^{\infty}\left(\Omega; \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^m\right)\right)$  be uniformly elliptic. That is, there exists a constant  $\kappa_A > 0$ such that

(6.1) 
$$\operatorname{Re} \langle A(x)\xi,\xi\rangle \ge \kappa_A |\xi|^2$$

for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$  and all  $\xi \in \mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^m$ . Let  $V : \Omega \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^m)$  be a matrix-valued function with coefficients in  $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ . Suppose that the numerical range of V(x) is contained in  $S_{\omega_V+}$  for some  $\omega_V \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .

One can then define sesquilinear forms  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}$  and  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V}$  with affilitated maximal accretive operators  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V$  as in Section 2.1. The notation  $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{a}^{V}, \mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{L} + V$  will once again be used to denote the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^{d}$ . The sectoriality of the potential and the ellipticity condition (6.1) imply that the form  $\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V}$  satisfies the corresponding Gårding inequality

$$\operatorname{Re}\mathfrak{a}_{\Omega}^{V}(u,u) \geq \kappa_{A}^{V}\left(\left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u\right\|^{2} + \left\|\nabla u\right\|^{2}\right)$$

for all  $u \in H_0^{1,V}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^m) := H_0^1(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^m) \cap D(|V|^{\frac{1}{2}})$ , where  $\kappa_A^V > 0$  depends on V only through  $\omega_V$ .

The following system version of Theorem 1.1 will be proved.

**Theorem 6.1.** Let  $A \in L^{\infty}\left(\Omega; \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{C}^{d} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{m}\right)\right)$  and  $V : \Omega \to \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{C}^{m}\right)$  be as defined above. Assume that V(x) is a normal matrix for almost every  $x \in \Omega$ . We have  $D\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V}\right) = H_{0}^{1,V}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^{m})$  and there exists a constant  $C_{V} > 0$  such that

$$C_{V}^{-1}\left(\|\nabla u\| + \left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|\right) \le \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_{\Omega} + V}u\right\| \le C_{V}\left(\|\nabla u\| + \left\||V|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|\right)$$

for all  $u \in H_0^{1,V}(\Omega; \mathbb{C}^m)$ . Moreover, the constant  $C_V$  depends on the potential only through  $\omega_V$ .

Proof for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ . As in the scalar case, we start by considering  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ . Fix V satisfying the hypotheses of the theorem. As V(x) is normal for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , it follows from the polar decomposition theorem that there must exist some  $U : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^m)$ , with U(x) unitary for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , such that

$$V(x) = U(x) \left| V(x) \right|$$

for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , where  $|V(x)| := \sqrt{V(x)^* V(x)}$ . For V(x) normal, it is well known that the matrices U(x) and |V(x)| commute. Therefore V can be decomposed as

(6.2) 
$$V(x) = |V(x)|^{\frac{1}{2}} U(x) |V(x)|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Consider the Hilbert space

$$\mathcal{H} := L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^m\right) \oplus L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^m\right) \oplus L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^m\right).$$

Define the operators  $\{\Gamma_V, B_1, B_2\}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  through

$$\Gamma_V := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ \nabla & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_1 := I \quad \text{and} \quad B_2 := \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & U & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & A \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let  $\Pi_V$ ,  $\Pi_{V,B}$  and  $Q_{V,B}$  be defined as in the scalar case. It follows from (6.2) that the operator  $\Pi^2_{V,B}$  will be of the form

$$\Pi_{V,B}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{L} + V & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & * & * \\ 0 & * & * \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let  $[V]_{\alpha}$  denote the system analogue of the quantity defined in Section 3 for  $\alpha \in [1, 2]$ . The proof of the following theorem is identical to that of the scalar case m = 1.

**Theorem 6.2.** Suppose that V(x) is normal for almost every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $[V]_{\alpha} < \infty$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ . The estimate

$$\left(C_V\left(1+[V]_{\alpha}^2\right)\right)^{-1} \|u\|^2 \le \int_0^\infty \left\|Q_t^{V,B}u\right\|^2 \frac{dt}{t} \le C_V\left(1+[V]_{\alpha}^2\right) \|u\|^2$$

holds for all  $u \in R(\Pi_V)$ . Moreover, the constant  $C_V$  is independent of  $\alpha$  and depends on V only through  $\omega_V$ .

The above estimate implies that the operator  $\Pi_{V,B}$  has a bounded holomorphic functional calculus. This can be applied with the functions  $f(z) = \frac{z}{\sqrt{z^2}}$  and  $g(z) = \frac{\sqrt{z^2}}{z}$  to the vector  $(u, 0, 0) \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $u \in D(\mathcal{L} + V)$  to obtain the Kato estimate

 $\left( C_V \left( 1 + [V]_{\alpha}^2 \right) \right)^{-1} \left( \|\nabla u\| + \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| \right) \leq \left\| \sqrt{\mathcal{L} + V} u \right\| \leq C_V \left( 1 + [V]_{\alpha}^2 \right) \left( \|\nabla u\| + \left\| |V|^{\frac{1}{2}} u \right\| \right),$ provided that  $[V]_{\alpha} < \infty$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ . An interpolation argument identical to that of Section 3 will then allow us to dispose of the dependence of this estimate on the quantity  $[V]_{\alpha}$ , giving us Theorem 6.1 for when  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $[V]_{\alpha} < \infty$  for some  $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ .

For a general potential V, define

$$V_{n,m}(x) := (\operatorname{Re} V(x)) \, \mathbb{1}_{\|V(x)\| \le n} + i \, (\operatorname{Im} V(x))^+ \, \mathbb{1}_{\|V(x)\| \le n} - i \, (\operatorname{Im} V(x))^- \, \mathbb{1}_{\|V(x)\| \le n}$$

for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $m, n \in \|^*$  with  $m \leq n$ . In the above definition,  $\|V(x)\|$  denotes the matrix norm of V(x),  $\operatorname{Re} V(x) := \frac{V(x)+V(x)^*}{2}$ ,  $\operatorname{Im} V(x) := \frac{V(x)-V(x)^*}{2i}$  and  $M^+$  and  $M^-$  denote the positive and negative parts of a self-adjoint matrix M. Observe that  $V_{n,m}(x)$  is a normal matrix for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and all m, n with  $m \leq n$ . This is trivial for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  with either  $\|V(x)\| \leq m$  or  $\|V(x)\| > n$ . For  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  with  $m < \|V(x)\| \leq n$ , this can be derived from the fact that a matrix M is normal if and only if its real and imaginary parts commute. Note that for this case we have

$$V_{n,m}(x) = \operatorname{Re} V(x) + i \left( \operatorname{Im} V(x) \right)^{+}.$$

Since  $(\operatorname{Im} V(x))^+ = \frac{\sqrt{(\operatorname{Im} V(x))^2 + \operatorname{Im} V(x)}}{2}$ , it follows that the real part of  $V_{n,m}(x)$  commutes with its imaginary part and therefore  $V_{n,m}(x)$  is normal.

The potentials  $V_{n,m} + \epsilon$  will also clearly be normal for  $\epsilon > 0$  and a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . On noting that  $[V_{n,m} + \epsilon]_2 < \infty$ , we obtain the estimate

$$C_V\left(\left\|\left|V_{n,m}+\epsilon\right|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|+\left\|\nabla u\right\|\right) \le \left\|\sqrt{\mathcal{L}+V_{n,m}+\epsilon}u\right\| \le C_V\left(\left\|\left|V_{n,m}+\epsilon\right|^{\frac{1}{2}}u\right\|+\left\|\nabla u\right\|\right),$$

where the constant in the above estimate only depends on V through  $\omega_V$  and is independent of  $\epsilon$ , m and n. Applying the limiting argument from Section 3 verbatim then allows us to conclude the proof of Theorem 6.1 for the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ .

Proof for General Domains. Start by considering smooth  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ . Fix V satisfying the hypotheses of the theorem. Extend V to all of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by setting it equal to zero on  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega$ . Then consider the potentials

$$V_k := V + \epsilon + k \cdot \mathrm{Id} \cdot \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \Omega}$$

for  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $k \in ||^*$ , where Id denotes the identity matrix acting on  $\mathbb{C}^m$ . It is obvious that  $V_k$  is normal for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .

Theorem 6.1 for the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  then gives the Kato estimate for  $V_k$  with constant independent of k,  $\epsilon$  and V. The approximation argument from Section 5 can then be applied verbatim to obtain Theorem 6.1 for smooth  $\Omega$ . Arbitrary domains are then obtained using the second approximation argument of Section 5.

#### References

- D. Albrecht, X. Duong, and A. McIntosh, Operator theory and harmonic analysis, in Instructional Workshop on Analysis and Geometry, Part III (Canberra, 1995), Proc. Centre Math. Appl. Austral. Nat. Univ., vol. 34, 1996, pp. 77–136. 7, 8
- [2] W. Arendt, C.J.K. Batty, M. Hieber and F. Neubrander, Vector-valued Laplace transforms and Cauchy problems. Second edition. Monographs in Mathematics, 96. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011. xii+539 pp. ISBN: 978-3-0348-0086-0. 20
- [3] P. Auscher, S. Hofmann, M. Lacey, A. McIntosh, and P. Tchamitchian, The solution of the Kato square root problem for second order elliptic operators on ℝ<sup>n</sup>, Ann. of Math. (2), (2002), pp. 633–654. 1, 2, 3, 26, 35
- [4] P. Auscher and Ph. Tchamitchian, Square roots of elliptic second order divergence operators on strongly Lipschitz domains: L<sup>2</sup> theory. J. Anal. Math. 90 (2003), pp. 1–12. 2
- [5] A. Axelsson, S. Keith and A. McIntosh, Quadratic estimates and functional calculi of perturbed Dirac operators, Invent. Math., 163 (2006), pp. 455–497. 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 21, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 30, 32
- [6] A. Axelsson, S. Keith and A. McIntosh, The Kato square root problem for mixed boundary value problems, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 74 (2006), pp. 113–130. 2
- [7] R.R. Coifman, A. McIntosh and Y. Meyer, L'intégrale de Cauchy définit un opérateur borné sur L<sup>2</sup> pour les courbes lipschitziennes. Ann. of Math. (2) 116 (1982), no. 2, pp. 361–387. 1
- [8] R.R. Coifman, D.G. Deng and Y. Meyer, Domaine de la racine carrée de certains opérateurs différentiels accrétifs. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 33 (1983), no. 2, x, pp. 123–134. 2
- [9] M. Cowling, I. Doust, A. McIntosh, and A. Yagi, Banach space operators with a bounded H<sup>∞</sup> functional calculus, J. Aust. Math. Soc., 60 (1996), pp. 51–89. 7, 8
- [10] M. Egert, R. Haller-Dintelmann, and P. Tolksdorf, The Kato square root problem for mixed boundary conditions, J. Funct. Anal., 267 (2014), pp. 1419–1461. 2
- [11] M. Egert, R. Haller-Dintelmann, and P. Tolksdorf, The Kato square root problem follows from an extrapolation property of the Laplacian, Publ. Mat., 60 (2016), pp. 451–483. 12
- [12] E.B. Fabes, D.S. Jerison and C. E. Kenig, Multilinear square functions and partial differential equations. Amer. J. Math. 107 (1985), no. 6, pp. 1325–1368 (1986). 2
- [13] F. Gesztesy, S. Hofmann, and R. Nichols, Stability of square root domains associated with elliptic systems of PDEs on nonsmooth domains, J. Differential Equations, 258 (2015), pp. 1749–1764. 2
- [14] F. Gesztesy, S. Hofmann, and R. Nichols, On stability of square root domains for non-selfadjoint operators under additive perturbations, Mathematika, 62 (2016), pp. 111–182. 2
- [15] M. Haase, The functional calculus for sectorial operators. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, 169. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006. xiv+392 pp. ISBN: 978-3-7643-7697-0; 3-7643-7697-X. 7, 8
- [16] E. Hille and R.S. Phillips, Functional analysis and semi-groups. Third printing of the revised edition of 1957. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, Vol. XXXI. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R. I., 1974. xii+808 pp. 20
- [17] S. Hofmann, M. Lacey and A. McIntosh, The solution of the Kato problem for divergence form elliptic operators with Gaussian heat kernel bounds. Ann. of Math. (2) 156 (2002), no. 2, pp. 623-631. 1, 2
- [18] T. Hytönen, J. Van Neerven, M. Veraar, and L. Weis, Analysis in Banach spaces volume II: probabilistic methods and operator theory, vol. 2, Springer, 2017. 7
- [19] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators. Second edition. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 132. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976. xxi+619 pp. 20, 34
- [20] A. McIntosh, Square roots of elliptic operators. J. Funct. Anal. 61 (1985), no. 3, pp. 307–327. 2
- [21] A. McIntosh, Operators which have an H<sup>∞</sup> functional calculus, Miniconference on operator theory and partial differential equations (North Ryde, 1986), Proc. Centre Math. Anal. Austral. Nat. Univ., vol. 14, Austral. Nat. Univ., Canberra, 1986, pp. 210–231. 7, 8

- [22] A. J. Morris, The Kato square root problem on submanifolds, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 86 (2012), pp. 879–910. 12
- [23] E.M. Ouhabaz, Second order elliptic operators with essential spectrum  $[0, \infty)$  on  $L^p$ . Comm. Partial Differential Equations 20 (1995), no. 5-6, pp. 763–773. 5, 18
- [24] E.M. Ouhabaz, Analysis of heat equations on domains. London Mathematical Society Monographs Series, 31. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2005. xiv+284 pp. ISBN: 0-691-12016-1. 35
- [25] B. Simon, A canonical decomposition for quadratic forms with applications to monotone convergence theorems. J. Funct. Anal. 28 (1978), no. 3, pp. 377–385. 34
- [26] E. M. Stein, Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality and oscillatory integrals, vol. 43, Princeton University Press, 1993. 26

JULIAN BAILEY, MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES INSTITUTE, COLLEGE OF PHYSICAL AND MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, THE AUSTRALIAN NATIONAL UNIVERSITY CANBERRA ACT 0200 AUSTRALIA *E-mail address*: julian.bailey@anu.edu.au

EL MAATI OUHABAZ, INSTITUT DE MATHÉMATIQUES DE BORDEAUX, UNIVERSITÉ DE BORDEAUX, UMR 5251, 351, COURS DE LA LIBÉRATION 33405 TALENCE, FRANCE

*E-mail address*: Elmaati.Ouhabaz@math.u-bordeaux.fr